MICROFILMED - 1984

INFORMATION TO USERS

This reproduction was made from a copy of a document sent to us for microfilming. While the most advanced technology has been used to photograph and reproduce this document, the quality of the reproduction is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help clarify markings or notations which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting through an image and duplicating adjacent pages to assure complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a round black mark, it is an indication of either blurred copy because of movement during exposure, duplicate copy, or copyrighted materials that should not have been filmed. For blurred pages, a good image of the page can be found in the adjacent frame. If copyrighted materials were deleted, a target note will appear listing the pages in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., is part of the material being photographed, a definite method of "sectioning" the material has been followed. It is customary to begin filming at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. If necessary, sectioning is continued again—beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. For illustrations that cannot be satisfactorily reproduced by xerographic means, photographic prints can be purchased at additional cost and inserted into your xerographic copy. These prints are available upon request from the Dissertations Customer Services Department.
- 5. Some pages in any document may have indistinct print. In all cases the best available copy has been filmed.

University
Microfilms
International
300 N. Zeeb Road
Ann Arbor, MI 48106

Jolly, Eric Joseph

SOCIAL COMPARISON AND THE PERCEPTION OF SIMILARITY

The University of Oklahoma

Ph.D. 1984

University
Microfilms
International 300 N. Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106

-.

PLEASE NOTE:

In all cases this material has been filmed in the best possible way from the available copy. Problems encountered with this document have been identified here with a check mark $\sqrt{}$.

| 1. | Glossy photographs or pages |
|-----|--|
| 2. | Colored illustrations, paper or print |
| 3. | Photographs with dark background |
| 4. | Illustrations are poor copy |
| 5. | Pages with black marks, not original copy |
| 6. | Print shows through as there is text on both sides of page |
| 7. | Indistinct, broken or small print on several pages |
| 8. | Print exceeds margin requirements |
| 9. | Tightly bound copy with print lost in spine |
| 10. | Computer printout pages with indistinct print *** |
| 11. | Page(s) lacking when material received, and not available from school or author. |
| 12. | Page(s)seem to be missing in numbering only as text follows. |
| 13. | Two pages numbered Text follows. |
| 14. | Curling and wrinkled pages |
| 15. | Other *** Very Light Print, Best Available Copy |

University
Microfilms
International

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE AMERICAN OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESC

SOCIAL COMPARISON AND THE PERCEPTION OF SIMILARITY

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE ANDUSTS

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the DOCTOR OF FAILOSOPHY

By

ERIC J. JOLLY

Norman, Oklahoma

1984

SOCIAL COMPARISON AND THE PERCEPTION OF SIMILARITY A DISSERTATION APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

Sande Estand

M. Jack Kanch

Oligio J. Welk

Juseph No Roofers III

Acknowledgements

After more than an hour sitting before the ever-flashing cursor of my word processor attempting to find the words to thank those who made this dissertation possible, I realized that I could never, in so short a space, meet such a challenge. The people who helped bring me to this point in my life did more for me than any curious reader could understand. They have changed my life. They have given me direction, opportunity, patience, and most important of all, hope. I could not overstate the impact each person has had at some point in my life. Rather than risk the understatement, I will instead simply list those to whom I owe more than words can tell. Although I fear that the list is not complete, below are the names of those who gave to me an opportunity that few first-generation high school graduates will ever have, a chance to strive. Thank you.

Laura Wilson Jolly

Ruth M. Jolly

Clarence J. Jolly

Richard Gelles

Joseph Norris

Claiborne Pell

The Faculty of Chariho High School

The American Legion, William Shields Jr. Post.

| TABLE OF CONTENTS |
|---|
| |
| Title Page |
| Approval of Examining Committeeii |
| Acknowledgementsii |
| Abstractiiii |
| Introduction |
| Social Comparison Motivations |
| Similarity and Comparison Sources |
| Extending the Focus of Social Comparison |
| Group Structure and Individual-To-Group Perceptions!! |
| Category Width and Perceived Similarity15 |
| Ambiguity Tolerance and Perceived Similarity17 |
| Selection of Referent Group |
| Experiment One23 |
| Experiment Two34 |
| Discussion43 |
| Conclusion49 |
| References |
| Tables |
| 1. Reference Group Selection64 |
| 2. Most Similar Group Selection |
| 3. Amount of Choice |

| 4. | Range of Constructed Group |
|----------------------|--------------------------------|
| 5. | Within Group Diversity |
| ó. | Absolute Differences (S's-M)69 |
| Footnote Appendie | es |
| A. | Subject Materials71 |
| В. | NSF Narrative Wrap-Around83 |

•

ABSTRACT

According to social comparison theory, when the motivation for self evaluation predominates, people actively seek the opportunity to make comparisons of their attitudes and abilities with the most similar other available. Research of individual-to-individual comparison processes has demonstrated that externally defined dimensions of "similarity" can be effective predictors of one's selection of a comparison reference. The individual difference dimensions, ambiguity tolerance and category width, were used to extend our understanding of the concept of similarity, by examining internally (subjectively) defined dimensions of "similarity".

Ambiguity tolerance (AT) identifies a person's tendency to seek out or avoid ambiguous situations and problems. Category width (CW) identifies a person's tendency to make consistent errors of inclusion or exclusion in the creation of group boundaries. After identifying the structural properties of groups which relate to breadth of membership and homogeneity of membership, we demonstrate the utility of CW and AT for predicting individuals' selection of comparison groups.

Two experiments are presented which redefine traditional dimensions of similarity in favor of a model

of perceived similarity. In Experiment 1, subjects were given information about themselves and others along an attitude dimension. These "others" comprised four groups representing different levels of breadth and homogeneity. Subjects were asked to select a preferred group for discussion of the attitude topic. In Experiment 2 the "others" had not been assigned to groups, and subjects were asked to construct the group with which they would prefer to work. Results indicate that subjects prefer reference groups which are constructed in a manner consistent with their cognitive style. Additionally, the comparison process for group construction is shown to be different from the process of comparison to established groups. Implications for the theory of social comparison and the apparent drive-like functions of CW are discussed.

"We forfeit three-fourths of ourselves in order to be like other people."

- Arthur Schopenhauer (1788-1860)

INTRODUCTION

When we find ourseives uncertain of our place in life, the value of our goals, abilities and beliefs, we seek the kind of information which can lend clarification and quality to our evaluations of self. More often than not, we look to others' experiences as a standard of measure by which to assess our own attitudes and performance. This process of social comparison, the seeking out of others to gain more accurate information about ourselves, was first detailed by Festinger (1950, 1954a). Festinger proposed that in lieu of an objective, nonsocial criterion, we choose to make comparisons with a similar other as a basis for self evaluation. This self evaluation process originates from a drive-like disposition to gain an accurate self portrayal. According to Festinger, we need to compare frequently our skills, abilities, and interests with those of similar others. The tendency to compare oneself with another is proportional

to the degree of similarity between both people (Festinger 1954a). Given the opportunity, we actively seek the most similar comparative other.

A primary focus of this research is a proposed integration of two key areas in social comparison, the dimensions used in selecting a most similar group and variables that affect individual differences in cognitive processing. We intend to unite these areas by defining the cognitive framework on which social comparison is based as a means of clarifying how similarity judgments are made by individuals seeking a reference group. In order to understand better some of the social comparison processes operative in the choice of referent or comparison group, we intend to identify more clearly both the salient features by which a group can be evaluated and how the individual uses these features in the evaluation process. In the following pages we briefly review the role of similarity in theories of social comparison, and introduce some cognitive style variables which we believe are related to issues of similarity. Then, two experiments investigating the role of cognitive styles in social comparison are presented. We conclude with a discussion of some theoretical extensions.

SOCIAL COMPARISON MOTIVATIONS

The theory of social comparison is founded on the assumption that there exists a drive to evaluate one's opinions and abilities (hypothesis 1 in Festinger, 1954a). People need to verify the accuracy of their assessment of their own attitudes and abilities. In the absence of objective standards of reference, people are uncertain of the value of their own opinions and abilities. The use of an external source of reference (social comparison) allows them to reduce the uncertainty of their self evaluations (Gruder, 1977). Thus, people will desire a comparison when there exists some uncertainty in their self evaluation. If at the time they are forming an assessment people have access to comparative norms which can be used to evaluate their own abilities or attitudes, they will actively make use of normative information (Ward, 1981). If such information is only made available after an evaluation judgment has been made, people will not seek access to evaluative information (Jones & Regan, 1974).

Situations that trigger an evaluative social comparison include circumstances where subjects do not have knowledge of the value of their abilities or attitudes. The self evaluation process, as conceived by

Festinger (1954a), is concerned with a person's need to determine a basic conception of reality, not a need to confirm an already existing reality (Mettee & Smith, 1977, p. 70). In social comparison, individuals are not seeking consensual validation of already existing knowledge structures: They are gaining new, external measures of reality. This motive for evaluation distinguishes social comparison theory from other models in which people may also seek affiliation with similar others (c.f. Byrne's affiliation-attraction hypothesis, which focuses on the seeking of consensual validation, Byrne, 1971; Byrne, Nelson, & Reeves, 1969).

Social comparison is not limited to situations that involve only evaluative motives. Two distinct motives can be inferred from Festinger's original propositions. One is based on a need for self evaluation; the other on a need for self enhancement (Thornton & Arrowood, 1966).

Self enhancement is different from self evaluation in that it occurs after people already have an accurate self portrayal, and after their self-esteem has been threatered. Self enhancing comparisons are intended to increase self esteem. When a comparison to the most similar other would further threaten the person's

self-esteem, the need for self enhancement would outweigh the need for self evaluation, and the individual would avoid continued comparisons with similar others for evaluative purposes (Hakmiller, 1966; Friend & Gilbert, 1973). People seek comparisons that will support positive self evaluation, and avoid comparison sources which may confirm negative evaluations. When people's self-esteem has been threatened, they will often select a far less similar, perhaps inferior, other with whom to make a comparison (See Wills, 1981).

Self enhancement may also be a primary motive when there is a close social relationship between comparators. In these instances a negative evaluation could be construed as a potential threat to the relationship because it would hinder further self disclosure and interpersonal communication. (Mettee & Smith, 1977, p. 84). Recently, Tesser (Tesser, Cambell & Smith, 1984; Tesser, 1983; Tesser & Cambell, 1981) has presented a detailed theory which outlines situations in which the self enhancement motive is predominant in social comparison. Since our research involves only evaluative motives, the functions of self enhancement as outlined by Tesser and his colleagues are beyond the scope of our

current work, and we will not consider them further here.

SIMILARITY AND COMPARISON SOURCES

As previously stated Festinger (1954a) believed that when people opt to make a social comparison for self evaluation purposes, they will select persons most similar to themselves as the basis for comparison (hypothesis 3, corollaries 3A and 3B). There is a large body of literature related to this basic proposition (Latane, 1966; Suls & Miller, 1977). In general, the idea that people make social comparisons to similar (or slightly superior) others is well supported. The reason for this is that, in evaluative social comparison situations, subjects perceive the most useful source of reference to be the most similar others available (Wilson, 1973).

The drive for comparison to similar others is evident in evaluations of both attitudes and abilities. In an opinion-oriented context, people will select for comparison the most similar other available (Martens & White, 1975). If the comparisons are on ability dimensions, however, people are likely to seek a very similar, although slightly superior other (Martens & White, 1975; Wheeler, 1966): People prefer to engage in an

upward comparison of abilities because such comparisons have the potential to confirm a positive self evaluation. Ability comparisons have been shown, however, to be more threatening to self-esteem because a lack of similarity may provide self evaluation at the expense of self enhancement.

If there is no threat to self esteem, people select against downward comparisons of abilities. Downward comparisons are found to be less satisfying since such a comparisons can only support "below average" ability inferences (Shrauger, 1975). When it is avoidable, subjects will generally choose not to make a comparison of abilities at all (Sarnoff & Zimbardo, 1961; Tiechman, 1973). In instances where comparisons of both abilities and attitudes are equally available, people are more likely to make comparisons of attitudes. (Miller & Suls, 1977, p. 117). Therefore, taking the above considerations into account, the focus of the present research will be on comparison of attitudes.

EXTENDING THE FOCUS OF SOCIAL COMPARISON

In the preceding pages, we have demonstrated some of the principle considerations of social comparison theory and the major lines of its development. With some exceptions in issues involving self enhancement, social comparison theory has received considerable support in the research literature (Shaw & Costano, 1982; p. 269).

Another one of the primary areas of investigation in social comparison has been the role of similarity in the comparison process. Most research has defined similarity externally, often creating "standard strangers" (see Byrne et al., 1969) representing issues and attitudes that are either positively or negatively correlated to subjects' beliefs.

Byrne's law of attraction (1971) focuses on similarity as one factor for providing consensual validation. In support of his model, Byrne has demonstrated that similarity judgements resulting in attraction toward standard strangers can be based on a variety of stimulus types, including both task-relevant and task-irrelevant attitude information. He has shown that information relating to economic background, race, defense mechanisms, general attitudes, and need attitudes can be included as cimensions of similarity. According to Byrne, in the comparison process the most similar other may be identified by more than one similarity construct.

Although much research supports the idea that people make comparisons to the most similar other, we lack a basic understanding of how the individual defines the most similar other (Shaw & Costano 1982, p. 269). We know little about either the standards by which people make their judgments of similarity, or factors that may mediate a person's perception and use of externally defined dimensions of similarity (Castore & Denino, 1977, p. 126). Even though social comparison theory is cognitive in nature (Gruder, 1977), theoretical development has not considered cognitive issues relating to social comparison. Nor has it dealt with the individual's processing of the information from which judgements of similarity are made (See note 1).

Additionally, a majority of the research stimulated by Festinger's theory has been concerned with individual-to-individual comparisons on single dimensions of similarity (VanKnippenberg, Wilke, and De Vries, 1981). Festinger believed, however, that social comparison theory also had implications for group formation and group membership (Festinger, 1950). He proposed that one important consequence of the social comparison process is that it produces social groupings, and because of the

drive to compare with similar others, these groupings should possess a high degree of uniformity (Festinger. 1950; p. 124; Suls & Miller, 1977 p.8). A primary purpose of Festinger's model was the prediction of group affiliation responses and group formation. Just as in individual - to-individual comparison where the individual seeks out the most similar referent other individual, in an individual-to-group comparison process, the individual will seek out the most similar reference group. Recent research supports this contention. In one particularly noteworthy effort to understand individual-to-group perceptions, Granberg, Jefferson, Brent, and King (1981) demonstrated that attributions to groups can be interpreted in much the same way as are attributions to individuals. In their research, attitude attributions along similarity dimensions were demonstrated to occur in the individual-to-group perspective in the same way that the individual-to-individual attributions occur. When attributions of similarity-dissimilarity are made about groups, they appear to be based on the salient dimensions (or structural properties) of the groups. One implication of Granberg et. al's. research is the need to identify more clearly both the salient features by which a group

can be evaluated (i.e., group structure) and the ways the individual uses these features in the evaluation process (i.e., the cognitive style variables alluded to earlier).

Beyond the few exploratory studies, such as Granberg et al. (1981), the individual-to group social comparison process has not been as extensively detailed in the research literature. Therefore as stated earlier, a principle concern of our research is the integration of two key areas in social comparison, variables that affect individual differences in cognitive processing, and the dimensions used in selecting a most similar group. We intend to bring these areas together by defining the cognitive framework on which social comparison is based; thus, clarifying the ways similarity judgments are made by individuals seeking a reference group.

GROUP STRUCTURE AND INDIVIDUAL-TO-GROUP PERCEPTIONS

A number of attempts have been made to identify basic structural properties of groups for a variety of research problems (Cattell, 1955; Scott & Scott, 1981). In general, most of the properties of groups that have been identified were not intended to relate to issues of similarity. Those properties which appear to have a strong possiblity of

relating to perceptions of similarity are those based in some way on group congruence. Here, congruence should be understood in terms of the variability among group members, and the accepted diversity among group members. This notion of congruence is found in two of the structural group properties proposed by Scott and Scott (1981). They present two terms, permeability and consensus, that identify characteristics of groups which should have bearing upon issues of perceived similarity.

According to Scott and Scott (1981), permeability, being the breadth of membership, defines the "boundaries" of a group. The more permeable a group, the wider its range of membership. Pettigrew (1967, p. 246) has suggested that knowledge of membership range is an important factor in a person's selection of a social comparison group.

The other characteristic of group congruence, consensus, relates to the strength of similarity among group members. Within a given group, consensus describes the degree to which members are diverse or similar in abilities or attitudes. For Festinger (1954a), consensus was an important factor for defining group similarity. In early research, Hoffman, Festinger, and Laurence (1954)

reported a study in which the similarity of a three member reference group was defined by the (numerical) variability among members' scores on an IQ test. The high consensus, most similar group was defined as the group with the least deviation of the ability trait (IQ scores) about the mean.

As described above, the issues of permeability and consensus are not fully independent. It must be noted that a more permeable group, by virtue of its greater breadth of admissible candidates, is probably lower in general consensus. The deviation is not independent of the range.

One additional construct dimension of group identity is the general or "overall" opinion and ability of the group as traditionally used in social comparison research. Taken as a whole, that which defines the consensus opinion or overall ability of the group is the group's mean attribute. This dimension is probably the simplest and most frequently used defining characteristic of a group (Shaw, 1976). In most social comparison research, this objective average, or mean similarity, serves as the defining dimension of similarity for a potential reference group (Diener, Lusk, Defour, & Flax, 1980).

To summarize, there are (at least) three properties of groups which are believed to be salient to an individual

when characterizing a group. First, there is the mean or average opinion/ability of the group. Second, there is a characteristic of breadth or range which describes the differences among a group's most diverse members, and finally, the characteristic of diversity (average deviation) within the group. Given a described range, members may be of a single mind (homogeneous), an unambiguous membership. Alternatively, they may be relatively more diverse (heterogeneous), more ambiguous and varied in skill or opinion.

Following from these structural group variables, we can identify individual processing variables that may mediate the perception of group similarity. If we detail the differences between groups on the structural dimensions mentioned above and identify individual cognitive style differences that relate to these structural dimensions, then we may better understand individual perception of similarity for comparison groups. This method of theory development, the cojoining of construct and process variables, has been used successfully in extending a variety of theoretical frameworks (Durso, Reardon, & Jolly, in press; Jolly & Reardon 1984; for a discussion of the epistemological

issues for this method of theory construction, see Mischel 1973.).

CATEGORY WIDTH AND PERCEIVED SIMILARITY

It has recently been suggested that cognitive style variables should serve as a major focus for understanding and redefining the comparison process (Pettigrew, 1982). Pettigrew proposes that the cognitive style variable category width may be useful in defining the boundaries of inclusion for those who will be perceived as similar. Category width is an individual difference dimension that describes a person's tendency to construct and work with broad or narrow categories of events. This cognitive style variable defines individual consistencies in structuring and organizing response sets across different situations. According to Pettigrew, broad categorizers tend to make errors of inclusion and to overgeneralize similarities. They are likely to accept as members of a classification a very wide range of stimuli. Conversely, narrow categorizers tend to make errors of exclusion. Making a greater number of distinctions between stimuli, they notice and attend to differences among stimulus sets which would not be of significance to broader categorizers

(Steiner, 1968; Steiner & Rogers, 1963).

As an example, let us construct two groups that have the same mean attitude position on some attributional issue. (In this and other examples, it is expected that social comparisons of either attitude or ability follow principles of similarity.) One of these groups is composed of a broad range of members, with a person at each of two extremes. The second group (having the same mean attitude position), is composed of members who present a narrower range of positions, all members being more moderate. If we present these groupd (which vary only in breadth) to individuals we should be able to predict their perception of the more similar reference group based on their individual cognitive style, category width. The narrow categorizers should have a tendency to perceive the group with the broader range as containing members who are not appropriately similar to themselves or to other group members. The broad categorizers, on the other hand, should be more likely to believe that either group is appropriately similar to themselves, since they do not consider the members who vary a great deal from the mean as being outside of their reference group boundaries. There is a possibility that in accepting such diverse

groups as similar, broad categorizers do not seek or actively make social comparisons. It is more likely, however, that they will pursue the broader, more diverse group, as it will be perceived as more completely defining their category of similarity. (See note 2)

The breadth of a membership group is identified by the group's two most divergent members, not by the diversity among members. One might wonder how the factor of group size would relate to perception of diversity. To this author's knowledge, there is no evidence, nor theoretical construct, to suggest that group size is related to perception of breadth.

AMBIGUITY TOLERANCE AND PERCEIVED SIMILARITY

In addition to being either broadly or narrowly defined, the groups above can also be described as more or less ambiguous, in composition. A group is more ambiguous when it admits both greater variability and diversity to its membership, where diversity is the degree of homogeneity among members. If members are scattered along a salient similarity dimension, rather than clustered, the group reflects a greater diversity. If all members of a group are perceived as falling within the boundaries (or

category) of similarity, then the greater diversity among the members, the more ambiguous the group. In cases where most members deviate little from the mean attitude or ability, the result would be a relatively less ambiguous group. Further, a group should become more ambiguous as its membership size increases. An increase in membership leads to less clarity and greater ambiguity when the increase reflects more members distributed (as opposed to clustered) along the salient similarity dimension. The cognitive style of relevance to this type of structural group construct is tolerance for ambiguity (Budner, 1962; MacDonald, 1970).

Ambiguity tolerant (AT) persons like and seek ambiguous situations. They prefer diversity to uniformity. Those low in ambiguity tolerance (ambiguity intolerant; AIT) prefer closure. They seek clearly defined, more concrete situations and problems, even at the occasional expense of reality (English & English, 1958; MacDonald, 1970). Clearly, then, the drive for comparison groups among AT and AIT individuals has a sharply differing focus. An ambiguous group will be more attractive to AT people; AIT individuals, in making comparisons of similarity will be attracted to those groups that are less

ambiguous. The more extreme an individual in terms of tolerance or intolerance of ambiguity, the stronger the drive for a comparison group that is congruent with his or her cognitive style. Among persons who fall at the extreme ends of the continuum, the drive for an ambiguous or unambiguous group may be of greater importance than the mean similarity of the group. AT persons should seek a more ambiguous group structure, and AIT persons should seek a less ambiguous group structure, both groups having somewhat less regard for the mean similarity of available comparison groups. Recall that ambiguity should be affected by diversity among members and the number of divergent members (size of the membership group).

SELECTION OF REFERENT GROUP

The two cognitive styles, ambiguity tolerance and category width, were developed separately and relate to different methods of processing (See note 3). However, within Festinger's (1954a) model of comparison to similar others, they can work together to predict individual selection of a reference group. Category width may identify those groups that will be accepted as constituted of members appropriately similar for making social comaprisons. The selection of a particular group for comparison from those that are perceived to be similar (with respect to the individual's perception of category width) will be based on the drive for an overall ambiguous or unambiguous group. Narrow categorizers who are AIT should seek a nondiverse group with members who are similar to each other and to the themselves. Narrow categorizers who are AT should define a narrow range for group membership, but also seek to utilize fully that range, preferring the most diverse composition of membership within their narrower range of similarity.

Broad categorizers should accept as similar those groups which include a greater range of members. If broad categorizers are AT, they will seek groups whose

membership is not only broadly established, but whose members are most varied within this wide range of the characteristic skill or attitude. Conversely, broad categorizers who are AIT should accept a broad group focus, but within this focus will seek to limit variablity and diversity among the group membership.

These are the primary relationships of interest to us. Next, we will present two experiments in which we systematically varied structural components of groups in a way that allowed us to study choice of referent group as a function of the group properties and the individual cognitive style variables that we presented above. The first experiment was intended to verify the basic relationships of our interactive model for social comparison. It addressed a fundamental question for our application of Festinger's model: Do geople who are broad categorizers make social comparisons? Assuming that both broad and narrow categorizers exhibit a drive for social comparison, is the choice of referent group a function of cognitive style (i.e., category width and ambiguity tolerance) as predicted by our model? In this experiment, individuals were given attitude position information about themselves and about the membership of several groups.

They were asked to select the group with which they would most prefer to work in a discussion of the attitude survey topic.

The second experiment was an extension of the first. It investigated more completely the influence of cognitive style in social comparison in an attempt to generalize the application of the principle mechanisms outlined to the construction of social referent groups. Based on attitude position information about themselves and others, subjects were asked to construct their own ideal discussion group. In this design the subjects controlled the range, variability, and mean similarity of the groups they built.

In both experiments, we attempted to separate the effects due to AT/AIT from those attributable to category width by varying the size and related diversity of potential reference groups. As stated earlier, group size is not relevent to dimensions of breadth, but does relate positively to issues of ambiguity. As the group's size is increased, we can amplify it's ambiguity while breadth can be held constant. Therefore, as group size increases only the effects due to AT/AIT should be magnified, and those related to category width should remain relatively stable.

EXPERIMENT 1

Experiment 1 was intended to demonstrate a basic relationship of cognitive style to both perception and choice of similar others. In this experiment variability within group membership was manipulated and the objective mean similarity held constant. This was done by varying a salient characteristic about a group mean, affecting both ambiguity and breadth. The descriptive characteristic, individual scores on an attitude questionnaire, utilized attitudinal information rather than, for example, ability. This was done because such information generally ensures greater uncertainty in potential comparison situations (Wilson, 1973), and can create a need for social comparison (Festinger 1954b, p.196). As the salient descriptive characteristic of individuals within the group deviate more about a given mean, the group becomes more ambiguous. The two extreme deviations in each direction define the breadth of the group. Remember that the dimension of breadth subsumes a level of ambiguity; extreme deviations contribute greatly to the ambiguity of the group.

Based on the earlier discussion, it is reasonable to assume that the cognitive styles, category width and

ambiguity tolerance, would affect individual selection of a comparison reference group. We predicted that broad categorizers would prefer to join groups that have a greater breadth of membership, and narrow categorizers would prefer groups that have less breadth of membership. Among broad categorizers, those who are ambiguity tolerant (AT) were expected to select reference groups with the greatest diversity, the next most diverse groups being selected by broad categorizers who are ambiguity intolerant (AIT). Although narrow categorizers who are AT were expected to select from groups with less breadth, they were also expected to prefer groups of relatively more diversity when compared to narrow categorizers who are AIT. Finally, it was expected that the effects due to AT-AIT would be magnified for both broad and narrow categorizers as the size of the comparison groups increased.

SUBJECTS

The subjects were 80 undergraduates who participated as one option of a research familiarization requirement for introductory psychology courses.

PROCEDURE

To ensure that the subject perceived a personal relevancy for the group choice decisions they would make, the experiment was run in a group context. The group context further encouraged subjects' belief that they would be involved in the discussion group they were to select. In order to maintain the group atmosphere and allow efficient collection of data, the experiment was divided across three rooms. In the first and third rooms, the subjects met in their groups; in the second room they worked individually with an experimenter.

When the subject entered the first room of the laboratory, he or she was seated among other subjects and presented with a number of paper-and-pencil questionnaires. The questionnaire packet contained the two cognitive style measures and two attitude assessment questionnaires. On both attitude questionnaires the subject was asked to indicate (using a 6-point scale) the relative desirability of personality trait words. One of these instruments was titled "dating behavior", and the desirability of the personality traits was targeted toward an "ideal" dating partner. The other survey was oriented to an "ideal" supervisor, describing the type of boss a

student would want to be, or want to have. The trait words for both domains were selected from the standardized listing of personality trait words developed by Anderson (1968). A variety of positive, negative and neutral traits were included.

The first instrument was the revised scale for ambiguity tolerance (Macdonald, 1978). This was followed by the "Management Style" questionnaire. Pettigrew's (1958) Category Width Scale, and the "Dating Behavior" Questionnaire.

Once the subject had completed the paper-and-pencil questionnaires, the experimenter collected the answer sheets and spent a few moments ostensibly "scoring" the dating behavior and management style surveys. The subject was then given two predetermined scores and was told that these scores were derived from his or her responses. After this the subject was escorted to the second room for the second part of the experiment.

In phase two, the subject worked individually with a different experimenter. Here, she or he was told that the experimenter was constructing potential discussion groups for the topics of dating behavior and management style. The subject was told that for both groups, the discussion

would focus on interpersonal style.

The subject's attention was then directed to a listing of four partially completed groups; these were mock groups constructed for the experiment. Each group represented its members by subject number and score on the appropriate attitude survey. Subjects' own score was interpreted for each of them, and the standing relative to members of the mock groups was clearly explained.

The dimension of interest within the group was the relative deviation of group members' scores from a fixed mean. The score given to the subject was three points above this group mean. The group members varied systematically around this mean, allowing the groups to represent four levels of variability. For example, if the subject's score on the dating questionnaire was 50 the scores for all group members would vary about the number 50 as follows: GROUP A (69, 32, 45) GROUP B (65, 36, 44) GROUP C (60, 37, 46) GROUP D (56, 43, 47). In this design the subject's choice of group represents one of four levels of range and variability (Where group A is the widest, most diverse group, and D the narrowest, least diverse).

A similar procedure was then repeated using the other

discussion group topic. Only this time the subjects were told that the discussion groups would be somewhat larger, containing seven people. In the large group choice situations, the range of subject scores also varied about a fixed mean, for example: Group A (69, 56, 53, 32, 45, 47, 48) Group B (65, 55, 54, 36, 46, 46, 48) Group C (60, 56, 53, 49, 46, 47, 49) Group D (56, 55, 52, 43, 47, 48, 49).

The ranges represented above were selected as appropriately diverse based on the measurement dimensions used by Pettigrew (1958) for identifying broad and narrow categorizers. The descriptive characteristics represented the type of information sets which were described by Merton (1957) as necessary for formulating reference groups. This type of information has been demonstrated by Wheeler et.al. (1969) as increasing the tendency of subjects to make evaluative social comparison. The method of presentation was consistent with most trait or ability evaluative social comparison research (Gruder, 1977). In both small and large group choice situations, the group discussion topics and the order of presentations of topic by group size were appropriately counterbalanced.

Once the subject had selected the reference group

with which he or she would prefer to work, he or she was asked to rate both the most similar group, and the quality of the options available, (i.e., the amount of choice: was there a good selection of groups?) using a six-point scale where one indicated little or no real choice and six a great deal of choice. Thus the dependent measures in this study were; amount of choice, relative diversity of selected membership group, and relative diversity of the group identified as most similar. The subject was next moved to the third section of the laboratory.

In the third section of the experiment the subject completed the verbal subscale for the Shipley-Hartford Intelligence Test (Sines, 1958). This verbal ability test was used because participation in discussion groups relies heavily on verbal skills, and insecurity about verbal and other abilities has been shown to adversely effect the preference for similar others (Goldstein & Rosenfeld, 1968). We sought to control variability on this dimension by using this measure of verbal ability as a covariate. Finally, the efficacy of the manipulations was assessed, and subjects debriefed.

RESULTS

Subjects were assigned to groups of broad or narrow categorizers and ambiguity tolerant or intolerant persons on the bases of a quartile split on the relevant instruments. Subjects among the lowest quartile for one measure had to be in or near the lowest quartile of the second to be assigned to a group. No broad categorizer had a score lower than 65; no narrow categorizer had a score higher than 58. No AT person had a score lower than 60; no AIT person had a score higher than 55. This resulted in ten subjects per cell.

Analyses of covariance, with Shipley-Hartford verbal score as the covariate, were performed on all dependent measures. These analyses did not appreciably alter any pattern of results. Thus only the 2 x 2 x 2, CW x AT x group size, fixed model analyses of variance are reported below.

GROUP DIVERGENCE

The group divergence measure was represented by the four levels of range and variability available in the subjects' selected reference group. The group with narrowest range and least variability represented the

lowest level (1); the broadest, most diverse group represented the highest level (4); and the other two groups levels of range and diversity between these extremes (2 and 3). Mean measures of group divergence are given in table 1.

Insert Table 1 about here

There were four significant effects. There was a main effect for category width. Broad categorizers selected groups with a wider range ($\underline{M}=3.275$) than narrow categorizers ($\underline{M}=2.375$), $\underline{F}(1,36)=8.82$, p(.01.

There was an AT main effect. Those subjects who were identified as ambiguity tolerant opted to join discussion groups that represented greater diversity ($\underline{M} = 3.40$) than the groups selected by those identified as ambiguity intolerant ($\underline{M} = 2.25$), F(1,36) = 14.41, p<.001.

There was also an effect for group size. As group size increased, there was a tendency for subjects to select a more diverse group, $\underline{F}(1,36) = 6.90$, p<0.05.

Finally, there was a three way interaction, F(1,36) =

5.28, <u>p</u><.05. Inspection of table 1 reveals that those subjects who were both AIT and narrow selected the least diverse group available, regardless of size of group. Subjects who are both AT and broad opt for the greatest diversity, regardless of group size. The effects of group size are evident only among those subjects who are identified as either broad and AIT, or narrow and AT. In both cases, as group size increased the subjects selected groups representing greater diversity. We had anticipated that group size would only be related to the dimensions of AT/AIT.

PERCEIVED SIMILARITY

Mean group similarity scores (those groups identified by subjects' as most similar) are given in table 2. Analysis of variance showed a main effect for group size. As the group size increased, subjects were more likely to select a more divergent group, $\underline{F}(1,36) = 6.22$, $\underline{p}(.05)$.

Insert Table 2 about here

Careful inspection of Table 2 reveals only small differences between subjects' reports of most similar

group as a function of group size. There is an everwhelming tendency for all subjects to identify the least diverse group as most similar. However, when selecting from larger groups, subjects were more likely to deviate from this tendency and identified slightly wider, more diverse groups as similar. Importantly, there seems to be an indication here that dimensions of CW and AT do not affect the perception of objective similarity. For both AT and CW measures of similarity were nonsignificant, F<1.0.

THE VALUE OF CHOICE IN GROUP MEMBERSHIP

Mean ratings of choice are given in Table 3.

Insert Table 3 about here

There were no significant effects for amount of choice (quality of selection). This may indicate that all classifications of subjects, in both large and small group choice situations perceive the options offered as equally viable although perhaps not equally desirable.

EXPERIMENT 2

Experiment 2 was designed to clarify and extend the findings of Experiment 1. We attempted to generalize the situation in which the social comparison process occurs: Subjects were given control over the breadth and ambiguity of their preferred comparison group.

In Experiment 2 the subject was given the opportunity to create his or her own reference group. In some cases it has been found that when subjects construct groups, rather than accept an assignment to groups, they are more likely to self-evaluate (Wilson & Benner, 1971). This procedure, in which people have greater control over deciding with whom they will associate, often emphasizes individual leadership in group construction and is not new to the literature (Miller & Suis, 1977).

It was expected that broad categorizers would construct groups with a greater breadth of membership, and narrow categorizers would construct groups with less breadth of membership. Among both broad and narrow categorizers, those who were AT, were expected to construct groups with a greater diversity in membership than those who were AIT. It was thought that the effects due to AT-AIT would be magnified for both broad and narrow

categorizers as the size of the groups increases. As group size increased, AT persons may sacrifice mean similarity in efforts to create diversity, and AIT persons may sacrifice mean similarity in efforts to create less diverse groups.

SUBJECTS.

Subjects were 80 undergraduates who participated as one option of a research familiarization requirement for introductory psychology classes. These were not the same subjects who participated in experiment one.

PROCEDURE

Once again, in order to insure that the subjects perceived a personal relevancy for the group choice decisions they would make, the experiment was run in a group context. This was done in the same way as in Experiment 1, by dividing the experimental procedures into three phases.

Subjects arrived at the laboratory at ten minute intervals. When the subjects entered the first room of the laboratory they were seated among other subjects, who were

already working on questionnaires, and were given a packet of the paper-and-pencil measures. After reading the introductory instructions, the subjects completed, in order, the revised scale for ambiguity tolerance (MacDonald, 1970), the "management style" questionnaire, Pettigrew's (1958) Category Width scale, and the "dating behavior" questionnaire.

As each subject completed the questionnaires, the experimenter collected the materials, and "scored" the dating and management style instruments, and gave the subject two cards, the first was labeled dating behavior, the second, management style. The cards contained a (predetermined) subject "score", subject number, and an area for "experimenter's use only". The subject was escorted to the second room to continue the experiment.

In the second part of the experiment, each subject worked individually with only an experimenter in the room. He or she was told that the experimenter was constructing potential discussion groups. It was explained to the subject that we had developed a system in which we attempted to give as many people as possible the type of discussion group they would prefer. The subjects were told that they would be choosing the people with whom they

prefer to work in group discussions of dating behavior and management style.

As in Experiment 1, each subjects' score on the dating and management scales were interpreted for them. When the subject understood the relationship among the scores, he or she was presented with a selection of "others" to choose as preferred members in hers or his discussion group. The score of each potential member was presented on cards similar to those given the subject at the end of the first part of the experiment (labeled either dating or management style).

There were two group construction tasks in the second part of the experiment. In the first task, the scores of eight other potential group members were presented and the subject was asked to choose four with whom he or she would most prefer to work. These eight other members represented a variety of scores, and allowed the subject to build a group with a broad or narrow range, and a more or less ambiguous membership.

In the second task the subject was presented the scores of fifteen other potential group members. The subject was asked to select eight potential group members from this set. The maximum and minimum possible breadth

available in the second group construction task was the same as the maximum and minimum breadth available in the first group construction task. The maximum and minumum possible standard deviations for both the large and small groups were within 1 pkint of each other.

For each subject, three measures were obtained based on the characteristics of the group members they had selected: The range (an indicator of breadth; high score minus low score), the variability within the group membership (an indicator of ambiguity), and the mean similarity deviation (an indicator of mean similarity; the difference between the subject's reported score and the mean score of the group they constructed, taken as an absolute value).

Finally, each subject was directed to the third room of the experiment. There, with other subjects, they completed the verbal subscale of the Shipley-Hartford Intelligence scale (Sines, 1958), the efficacy of the manipulation was assessed, and they were debriefed.

RESULTS

The subjects were again assigned to groups of broad or narrow categorizers and AT or AIT persons by means of a quartile split. The high and low scores in each condition were the same as those in Experiment 1. This resulted in ten subjects per cell. Shipley-Hartford verbal scores did not impact on the results, and thus, only the 2 x 2 x 2, CM x AT x group size, fixed model analyses of variance are reported below.

CONSTRUCTED GROUP PANGE

The mean range of the groups constructed by subjects are given in table 4. There were significant main effects for size of group and subjects' category width.

Insert Table 4 about here

Broad categorizers consistently built discussion groups which represented a broader range of attitude scores (\underline{M} = 33.825) while narrow categorizers built groups of relatively narrow dimensions (\underline{M} = 25.925), \underline{F} (1,36) = 16.68, p.(8.881.

The larger the group which subjects were asked to construct, the broader the range of members' attitudes they selected, $\underline{F}(1,36) = 13.90$, $\underline{p}.(0.001)$. This was true regardless of cognitive style.

WITHIN GROUP DEVIATION

The mean group deviation scores (A measure of ambiguity) are given in Table 5.

Insert Table 5 about here

As we have already noted, the standard deviation of the groups constructed by subjects were not independent of the range. There was only one significant effect for deviation scores. The main effect for CW indicated that broad categorizers constructed groups which had greater diversity among members ($\underline{M} = 12.260$) than the groups constructed by narrow categorizers ($\underline{M} = 9.295$), $\underline{F}(1,36) =$

13.68, p.<0.001.

MEAN SIMILARITY DEVIATION

The mean similarity deviation represents the absolute difference between the arithmetic mean of the group constructed by a subject (excluding the subject's score), and the score reported to the subject as his or her own. For example, if subjects who were broad categorizers wished to explore the limits of their category without increasing ambiguity (Broad CW, AIT); they could construct a group including only members who were consistently (in the same direction) divergent from their own scores. This would create a large mean similarity deviation independent of within group variability. Table 6 shows the means of the mean deviation scores for subjects.

| | | : : : | | |
|--------|-------|----------|--------|------|
| Insert | Table | 6 | abou t | here |
| | | | | |

No main or interaction effects approached significance.

This lack of effect for CW is not surprising given the very wide range which broad categorizers utilized and the relatively restricted range used by narrow categorizers.

DISCUSSION

EXPERIMENT ONE

Considering first the dimension category width, in Experiment 1 we found strong support for the hypothesis that reference group selection is mediated by diversity in group membership and the general tendency of a person to accept such diversity. Category width strongly influences selection of a reference group. Pettigrew (1967) has suggested that people will differ in their latitude of acceptance as a function of their category width. It is clear that broad categorizers have a greater latitude of acceptance, and a broader perspective of the types of people who serve as similar other for evaluative social comparison. Category width determines the acceptable boundary conditions within which issues of ambiguity become salient.

Turning to ambiguity tolerance, a similar pattern of results is evident. Within the boundaries delineated by the style category width, subjects selected groups based on the relative homogeneity/heterogeneity of the group. People high in ambiguity tolerance selected groups of greater diversity. Those low in ambiguity tolerance opted

for groups of less diversity. In much the same way as category width, tolerance of ambiguity modified the individuals' perception of what can be an acceptable evaluative comparison group.

The data permit us to assert that judgments of similarity, for the purpose of a social comparison, are internally mediated. They are in part based upon the individuals' cognitive styles. These judgments are reflected in subjects' choices of comparison group.

The data regarding subjects' expression of "overall similarity" indicate that this internal standard does not distort subjects' understanding of the objective reality. No differences in the similarity ratings were attributable to CW or AT dimensions. Likewise, subjects' perception of quality of the choices available also failed to show differences related to cognitive style. Such findings lend support to our expectations that ambiguity tolerant or intolerant, and broad or narrow categorizers would select reference groups in accord with the similarity predictions derived from Festinger's model. These group affiliation preferences are based on a subject's "goodness of fit" judgments. They are not necessarily based on traditional, experimentally contrived definitions of similarity.

One important addition to our observations of how category width predicts choice of comparison reference is the apparent drive-like nature of this dimension. Category width does more than set limits identifying an acceptable comparison. If category width simply identified a latitude of acceptance, then broad categorizers would have had an equal likelihood of selecting either narrowly or broadly divergent groups. If those who were broad categorizers considered all options equally satisfying (within their latitude of acceptance), the selection of comparison group would have been more highly influenced by issues of ambiguity. This was not the case however. Broad categorizers were far more likely to select a group which fully explored the boundaries of their category. Although Pettigrew (1958, 1982) has not presented category width as being drive-like in nature, it seems quite reasonable to assert, that at least with regard to issues of social comparison, category width exhibits drive-like properties. Dimensions of category width direct the selection (and as we will soon discuss, the construction) of reference groups.

In combination, the drive-like properties of category width and ambiguity tolerance would seem to conflict among

those people who are either broad categorizers, and low in ambiguity tolerance, or narrow categorizers, who are high in ambiguity tolerance. Our data indicate that the relative importance of these styles varied as a function of group size. The effect of group size was not limited to dimensions of ambiguity tolerance as we had earlier predicted. When the potential reference group had fewer members, people tended to select a moderately diverse group. In smaller groups, people chose the middle road, neither violating nor fulfilling the drives related to breadth and ambiguity. However, when the group was larger and potentially more impersonal, people selected groups of greater diversity.

If the group size ensured some degree of anonymity, one cognitive style became dominant. As group membership increased the selection of a reference group was governed by that cognitive style which exerted a drive for greater diversity. For conditions relating to a self evaluative function, both category width and ambiguity tolerance dimensions appear to be equally important for selection of a reference group. One style will exert more control than the other only when selecting from larger groups.

EXPERIMENT TWO

The contribution of cognitive style to the construction of comparison groups differed markedly from situations involving group selection. Experiment 2 required that the subject select potential group members. In measures of range, variability, and mean deviation, the style ambiguity tolerance had no significant effect. There were, however, highly significant findings related to category width.

Narrow categorizers constructed groups with a more restricted latitude of acceptance. Concomitant with these effects for range of membership, groups constructed by narrow categorizers also had less variability.

Experiment 2 indicated that, category width alone was the dominant factor in predicting group structure. In group construction tasks, people actively pursue organization which fits their category width style. It appears likely that, the process of social comparison which relates to group affiliation is different in some basic way, from that related to group formation. Two different aspects of self evaluative motivations are apparent. When joining an established group, subjects' used all of the information related to their "goodness of

fit" with the groups. When subjects built a reference group, only dimensions relating to latitude of acceptance appeared to be important.

CONCLUSION

In summary, our research supports the following conclusions: (1) It is useful to classify groups according to dimensions of diversity, since these dimensions are used by individuals when joining or forming reference groups. (2) The cognitive styles ambiguity tolerance and category width, together, predict the types of groups an individual is likely to join. (3) When individuals construct new reference groups, category width is a dominant factor in the selection of members. It helps determine the latitude of the membership. (4) The principles governing the selection of a reference group are different from those governing the construction of a reference group. (5) When the concept of "similar other" is extended to include the dimensions of ambiguity tolerance and category width, our model follows the predictions of Festinger's (1954a) theory of social comparison. (6) Category width exhibits a drive-like function in self evaluative, social comparison situations.

This research challenges the concept of group structure as it is traditionally used to describe similarity in social comparison research. We have taken

the construct of similarity beyond the simple concept of a mean similarity. Similarity is described as a subjective, rather than objective variable, based on individual differences in cognitive style. By detailing the three structural group properties of breadth, ambiguity, and mean similarity, we have more completely described the constructs of groups which relate to dimensions of similarity. Further, we have detailed the ways in which individuals use these dimensions in social comparison.

If one knows the style variables that relate to perception of a potential reference group, and can identify the several relevant characteristics of the available groups, it is possible to predict the affiliative tendencies of individuals. Conversely, we can use information about group structure to identify the likely style charactersitics of group members.

In the social world there are a number of groups which can easily be classified according to these structural characteristics. For example, the latitude of acceptance in an encounter group would most likely be greater than the latitude of acceptance in a paramilitary organization. Given that different types of groups appeal to different types of people, it is possible to predict

the structural properties of a group necessary to attract certain individuals. Such information may be useful in a wide variety of situations, including developing viable alternative youth groups, alternative programming for delinquent youth and assessing the appeal of existing social groups (c.f., Empey & Lubeck, 1968), or organization work groups (Thomas & Ward, 1983). By identifying the dominant style characteristics within a group it also may be possible to construct information formats and types that would be most influential within targeted groups (Reardon & Dickey, in press).

Although, we caution that replacing the simple concept "similarity", in favor of a structurally defined "perceived similarity" does have limitations (For instance, the function of cognitive styles is not equivalent in the situations of group formation and group affiliation), and further work on the qualitative aspects of the selection remains to be done. For example, it is important to know why subjects selected as they did. We do believe that our basic reformulation of what has been a more limited, narrowly defined, concept labeled "similarity" will affect issues other than group formation and self evaluation. Our revision of the interpersonal

similarity dimension could be used to extend and revise models of persuasion, affiliation and attraction, and leadership.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, Norman H. (1968) Likableness ratings of 555

 personality-trait words. <u>Journal of Personality</u>

 and Social Psychology, 9,3,272-279.
- Budner, S. (1960) An investigation of intolerance of ambiguity. Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation, Columbia University.
- Byrne, D. (1971) <u>The Attraction Paradigm</u>. New York:
 Academic Press.
- Byrne, D., Nelson, D., & Reeves, K. (1969) Effects of consensual validation and invalidation on attraction as a function of verifiability.

 Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 2,98-107.

- Castore, C. & DeNinno, J. (1977) Investigations in the social comparison of attitudes. In J. Suls & R.

 Miller (Eds.), <u>Social Comparison Processes</u>

 (pp. 125-148) Washington D.C.: Hemisphere

 Publishing.
- Cattell, R. (1951) New concepts for measuring leadership, in terms of group syntality.

 Human Relations, 4, 161-184.
- Deiner, E. Lusk, R. DeFour, D. & Flax, R. (1980)

 Deindividuation: Effects of group size, density,

 number of observers, and group member similarity

 on self consciousness and disinhibited behavior.

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology,

 3, 449-459.
- Durso, F., Reardon, R., & Jolly, E. (in press)

 Self-nonself segregation and reality monitoring.

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology.

- English, H. & English, A. (1958) A Comprehensive

 Dictionary of Psychological and Psychoanalytic

 Terms. New York: McKay
- Empey, L., & Lubeck, S. (1971) The Silverlake

 Experiment: Testing Delinquency Theory and

 Community Intervention. Chicago:Aldine.
- Festinger, L. (1950) Informal social communication.

 Psychological Review, 57, 271-282.
- Festinger, L. (1954,a) A theory of social comparison processes, Human Relations, 1954, 7, 117-140.
- Festinger, L. (1954,b) Motivation leading to social behavior. In M. Jones (Ed.), Nebraska Symposium on Motivation (pp. 191-219) Lincoln:University of Nebraska Press.
- Friend, R. & Gilbert, J. (1973) Threat and fear of negative evaluation as determinants of locus of social comparison. <u>Journal of Personality</u>, 41, 328-348.

- Goldstein, J. & Rosenfeld, H. (1968) Insecurity and preference for persons similar to oneself. <u>Journal</u> of Personality, 37, 253-268.
- Granberg, D. Jefferson, N. Brent, E. & King, M. (1981)

 Membership group, reference group, and the

 attribution of attitudes to groups. <u>Journal of</u>

 <u>Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 48, 5, 833-842.
- Gruder, C. (1977) Choice of comparison persons in

 evaluating oneself. In J. Suls & R. Miller (Eds.)

 Social Comparison Processes (pp. 21-42)

 Washington D.C.: Hemisphere Publishing.
- Hakmiller, K. (1966) Threat as a determinant of downward comparison. <u>Journal of Experimental</u>

 Social Psychology, Supplement 1, 49-54.
- Hoffman, P., Festinger, L., & Lawrence, D. (1954)

 Tendencies toward group comparability in

 competitive bargaining. <u>Human Relations</u>, 7,

 141-159.

- Jolly, E., & Reardon, R. (1984) Cognitive

 differentiation, script mastery, and responses to

 script interruption. Manuscript submitted for

 publication.
- Jones, S. & Regan, D. (1974) Ability evaluation through social comparison. <u>Journal of Experimental Social</u>

 Psychology, 10,133-146.
- Latane', B. (1966) Studies in social comparison
 Introduction and overview. <u>Journal of Experimental</u>

 Social Psychology, Supplement 1, 1-5.
- MacDonald, A. (1970) Revised scale for ambiguity tolerance: reliability and validity, <u>Psychological</u>
 <u>Reports</u>, 26, 791-798.
- Martens, R., & White, V. (1975) Influence of win-loss ratio on performance satisfaction and preference for opponents. <u>Journal of Experimental Social</u>
 Psychology, 11, 343-362.

- Merton, R. (1957) <u>Social Theory and Social Structure</u>.

 Glencoe: Free Press.
- Mettee, D., & Smith, G. (1977) Social comparison and interpersonal attraction. In J. Suls & R. Miller (Eds.) <u>Social Comparison Processes</u> (pp. 69-102) Washington D.C.: Hemisphere Press.
- Miller, R. & Suls, J. (1977) Affiliation preferences as a function of attitude, ability and similarity. In J. Suls & R. Miller (Eds.) Social Comparison

 Processes (pp. 103-124) Washington D.C.

 Hemisphere Press.
- Mischel, W., (1973) Toward a cognitive social learning reconceptualization of personality. Psychological Review, 80, 252-283.
- Pettigrew, T. (1982) Cognitive style and social behavior. In M. Shaw & P. Costano (Eds.) <u>Theories of Social Psychology</u>, 2nd Ed. (pp. 199-223)

 New York: McGraw Hill.

- Pettigrew, T. (1967) Social evaluation theory:

 Convergences and applications. In D. Levine (Ed.)

 Nebraska Symposium on Motivation (pp. 241-311)

 Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Pettigrew, T. (1958) The measurement and correlates of category width as a cognitive variable. <u>Journal of Personality</u>, 26,532-544.
- Reardon, R. & Dickey, L. (April, 1983) Category width and persuasion in a group shift setting. Paper presented at the meeting of the Southwestern Psychological Association, San Antonio.
- Sarnoff, I. & Zimbardo, P. (1961) Anxiety, fear, and social affiliation. <u>Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology</u>, 62, 356-363.
- Scott, W. & Scott, R. (1981) Intercorrelations among structural properties of primary groups. <u>Journal</u>
 of Personality and Social Psychology, 41, 2, 279-292.

- Shaw, M. (1976) <u>Group Dynamics</u>. Second Edition. New York: McGraw- Hill.
- Shaw, M. & Costano, P. (1982) Theories of Social Psychology. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Shrauger, J. (1975) Responses to evaluation as a function of initial self perceptions.

 Psychological Bulletin, 82, 581-596.
- Sines,L. (1958) Intelligence test correlates of Shipley-Hartford performance. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 14, 399-404.
- Steiner, I. (1968) Reactions to adverse and favorable evaluations of one's self. <u>Journal of Personality</u>, 36, 553-363.
- Steiner, I., & Rogers, E. (1963) Alternative responses to dissonance. <u>Journal of Abnormal and Social</u>

 Psychology, 66, 128-141.

- Suls, J. & Miller, R. (1977) <u>Social Comparison</u>
 <u>Processes</u>. New York: Wiley and Sons.
- Tesser, A. (1983) Self-evaluation maintenance

 processes: Implications for relationships and

 development. Unpublished manuscript, University of
 Georgia.
- Tesser, A. & Cambell, J. (1981) Self-definition and Self-evaluation maintenance. Prepublication manuscript for J. Suls & A. Greenwald (Eds.)

 Social Psychological Perspectives on the Self (Vol.2).
- Tesser, A., Cambell, J. & Smith, M. (1984) Friendship choice and performance: Self-evaluation maintenance in children. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 46, 561-574.
- Thibault, J., & Kelley, H.H. (1959) The Social Psychology of Groups. New York: Wiley.

- Thomas, E., & Ward, W. (1983) The influence of our own and other outcome on satisfaction and choice of task difficulty. Organizational
 Behavior and Human Performance, 32, 399-416.
- Thornton, D. & Arrowwood, A. (1966) Self-evaluation, self-enhancement, and the locus of social comparison. <u>Journal of Experimental Social Psychology</u>, Supplement 1, 40-48.
- Tiechman, Y. (1973) Emotional arousal and affiliation.

 <u>Journal of Experimental Social Psychology</u>, 9,

 591-605.
- Upshaw, H. (1969) The personal reference scale:

 An approach to social judgement. In L. Berkowitz

 (Ed.) Advances in Experimental Social Psychology

 (pp. 219-232) New York: Academic Press.
- Van Knippenberg, A. Wilke, H. & Devries, N. (1981)

 Social comparison on two dimensions. <u>European</u>

 Journal of Psychology, 1981, 11, 267-283.

- Ward, W. (April,1981) The effect of social comparison

 processes on self evaluative reactions. Paper

 presented at the meeting of the Western

 Psychological Association, Los Angeles.
- Wheeler, L. (1966) Motivation as a determinant of upward comparison. <u>Journal of Experimental Social</u>

 Psychology, Suppliment 1, 27-31.
- Wheeler, L., Shaver, K., Jones, R., Goethels, G.

 Cooper, J., Robinson, J., Gruder, C., & Butzine,

 K. (1969) Factors determining choice of a

 comparison other. <u>Journal of Experimental Social</u>

 Psychology, 5, 219-232.
- Wills, T. (1981) Downward comparison principles in social comparison. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 2, 245-271.
- Wilson, S. (1973) Ability evaluation and selfevaluation as types of social comparisons. Sociometry, 36, 600-607.

Wilson S., & Benner, L. (1971) The effects of self-esteem and situation upon comparison choices during ability evaluation. <u>Sociometry</u>, 34, 381-397.

Table 1
Reference Group Selection
Group Diversity

| C.W. | Narrow | | Broad | | | |
|-----------|------------|----------|------------|---------|-------------|--|
| A.T. | Intolerant | Tolerant | Intolerant | Tolerar | 1t <u>M</u> | |
| Sm. Group | 1.60 | 2.40 | 2.60 | 3.70 | 2.63 | |
| Lg. Group | 1.70 | 3.60 | 3.10 | 3.70 | 3.03 | |
| <u>M</u> | 1.65 | 3.10 | 2.85 | 3.70 | 2.83 | |

Note: Figures are based on choice of group, where 1 indicates the least diverse group, and 4 the most diverse.

Table 2
Most Similar Group Selection

| C.W. | Narrow | Br | | |
|-----------|---------------------|------------|----------|----------|
| A.T. | Intolerant Tolerant | Intolerant | Tolerant | <u>m</u> |
| Sm. Group | 1.10 1.60 | 1.30 | 1.20 | i.15 |
| Lg. Group | 1.40 1.30 | 1.20 | 1.80 | 1.42 |
| <u>m</u> | 1.25 1.15 | 1.25 | 1.50 | 1.29 |

Note: Figures are based on the group which subjects identified as most similar to themselves.

Table 3
Amount of Choice

| c.w. | | Nar | row | Broad | | |
|------|-------|------------|----------|------------|---------|-------------|
| A.T. | | Intolerant | Tolerant | Intolerant | Toleran | nt <u>M</u> |
| Sm. | Group | 4.40 | 3.80 | 4.30 | 4.40 | 4.23 |
| Lg. | Group | 4.20 | 4.30 | 4.30 | 3.80 | 4.15 |
| M | • | 4.36 | 4.05 | 4.30 | 4.10 | 4.19 |

Note: Based on a scale of 1-6 where 1 represents little or no real choice, and 6 a great deal of choice.

Table 4
Range of Constructed Group
High Minus Low Score

| c.w. | Narrow | | Broad | | | |
|-----------|------------|----------|------------|---------|-------------|--|
| A.T. | Intolerant | Tolerant | Intolerant | Toleran | it <u>M</u> | |
| Sm. Group | 24.30 | 24.10 | 28.80 | 33.50 | 27.68 | |
| Lg. Group | 28.20 | 27.10 | 36.40 | 36.60 | 32.08 | |
| <u>M</u> | 26.25 | 25.60 | 32.60 | 35.05 | 29.88 | |

Note: based on the difference between the high and low scores of members within subject constructed groups.

Table 5 Within Group Diversity Mean Deviations

| c.w. | Narrow | | Broad | | |
|-----------|------------|---|------------|--------|-------------|
| A.T. | Intolerant | Tolerant | Intolerant | Tolera | nt <u>M</u> |
| • | | 20 245 445 454 457 ⁴⁴⁶ 1116 456 1116 1116 1116 | | | |
| Sm. Group | 9.06 | 9.18 | 18.69 | 12.82 | 10.41 |
| Lg. Group | 10.70 | 8.91 | 11.97 | 13.65 | 11.14 |
| M | 9.55 | 9.04 | 11.28 | 13.24 | 10.78 |
| | | - | | | |

PERCEIVED SIMILARITY

Table 6
Absolute Differences Between Subject Score
and Group Mean

| c.w. | | Narrow | | Broad | • |
|-----------|------------|----------|------------|--------|-------------|
| A.T. | Intolerant | Tolerant | Intolerant | Tolera | nt <u>M</u> |
| Sm. Group | 2.15 | 2.90 | 2.50 | 1.70 | 2.32 |
| Lg. Group | 3.42 | 4.28 | 1.67 | 2.85 | 3.05 |
| <u>M</u> | 2.78 | 3.59 | 2.10 | 2.78 | 2.69 |

FOOTNOTES

- There are a number of social evaluation and judgement theories which incorporate cognitively mediated standards (c.f. Thibaut & Kelley, 1959; Upshaw, 1969)
- In an investigation of individual-to-individual referent selection, Gruder (1977) has shown that, when subjects know the range of scores on an attitude dimension, they will engage in social comparison. If range setting information is not known, but is available, they will seek this information.
- In an earlier norming experiment, the correlation between category width and ambiguity tolerance among members of our standard subject pool was determined as r < 0.10 (N = 115).

VPPENDIX A

INTRODUCTION

DO NOT CONTINUE UNTIL YOU HAVE READ THIS PAGE COMPLETELY

The experiment you are about to participate in is intended to help us understand group behavior and its importance in individual evaluation. In the sections which follow you will be asked to complete a small variety of checklists and surveys. Among other things, one of these surveys will evaluate your personal beliefs about dating, and another will measure your opinion regarding effective management of people. Once you have completed the questionnaires in this packet, your dating and management styles will be scored so they can be used in constructing discussion groups on these topics.

Instructions for each task are provided in that section. Read the instructions carefully, and feel free to ASK THE EXPERIMENTER for help if you have any questions along the way. Once you have finished one section of the experiment, continue on to the next section. Do not return to any section that you have already completed.

Before you begin, please read and complete the consent form at the bottom of this page. Do not continue until you have filled out this form; once you have signed the form you can turn the page and begin the experiment. Thank you for your help.

AGREEMENT TO PARTICIPATE

I, the undersigned, hereby agree to participate in the experiment titled "Group Discussion," sponsored by the Department of Psychology at the University of Oklahoma, 1993. I understand that I may withdraw from the experiment at any time without penalty. This agreement does not waive any of my legal rights.

| Date | Signature | |
|------|-----------|--|
| | | |
| | ID Number | |

Please do not spend too much time on the following items. There are no right or wrong answers and, therefore, your first response is important. Mark each statement on the data processing sheet provided according to how much you agree or disagree with it. Please mark every one according to the following code:

1.* I agree very much 4.* I disagree a little

| | 2 = 1 agree very much 4 = 1 disagree a little 2 = 1 agree on the whole 5 = 1 disagree on the whole 3 = 1 agree a little 6 = 1 disagree very much |
|-----|--|
| 1. | A problem has little attraction for me if I don't think it has a solution. |
| 2. | I am just a little uncomfortable with people unless I feel that I can understand their behavior. |
| 3. | There's a right way and a wrong way to do almost everything. |
| 4. | I would rather bet 1 to 6 on a long shot than 3 to 1 on a probable winner. |
| 5. | The way to understand complex problems is to be concerned with their larger aspects instead of breaking them into smaller pieces. |
| €. | I get pretty anxious when I am in a social situation over which I have no control. |
| 7. | Practically every problem has a solution. |
| 3. | It bothers me when I am unable to follow another person's train of thought. |
| 9. | I have always felt that there is a clear difference between right and wrong. |
| !0. | It bothers me when I don't know how other people react to me. |
| 11. | Nothing gets accomplished in this world unless you stick to some basic rule. |
| 12. | If I were a doctor, I would prefer the uncertainties of a psychiatrist to the clear and definite work of someone like a surgeon or X-ray technician. |
| 13. | Vague and impressionistic pictures really have little appeal for me. |
| 14. | If I were a scientist, it would bother me that my work would never be completed (because science will always make new discoveries). |
| 15. | Scrore an examination, I feel much less anxious if I know how many questions there will be. |
| 15. | The best part of working a jigsaw puzzle is putting in that last piece. |
| 17. | Sometimes I rather enjoy going against the rules and doing things I'm not supposed to do. |
| 18. | I don't like to work on a problem unless there is a possibility of coming out with a clear cut and unambiguous answer. |
| 19. | I like to fool around with new ideas, even if they turn out later to be a total waste of time. |
| 20. | Perfect balance is the essence of all good composition. |
| | |

In this test there are twenty statements, each of which is followed by two questions. Read the statements carefully, then answer each question to the best of your ability. It is important that you enswer each question. Select the answer which you feel is most accurate among those listed, and circle it's number.

It has been estimated that the average width of windows is 34 inches. What do think

```
is the width of the widest window ...
```

1. 1.343 inches 3. 48 inches 2. 341 inches 4. 81 inches

4. 81 inches

is the width of the narrowest window ...

3. 11 inches 4. 1 inch

1. 3 inches
2. 18 inches

Or nichologists believe that the best guess of the average speed of birds in flight would be about 17 miles per hour. What do you think ...

a. is the speed in flight of the fastest bird...

1. 25 m.p.h. 2. 105 m.p.h.

3. 73 m.p.h. 4. 34 m.p.h.

b. is the speed in flight of the slowest bird ...

1. 10 m.p.h.

3. 12 m.p.h. 4. 5 m.p.h.

2. 2 a.p.h.

The average length of whales in the Atlantic Ocean has been estimated by zoologists to be roughly 65 feet. What do you think:

a. is the length of the longest whale in the Atlantic Ocean ...

1. 120 ft. 3. 86 feet

2. 190 ft.

4. 75 feet

b. is the length of the shortest whale in the Atlantic Ocean...

1. 6 ft. 2. 43 ft.

3. 52 fc. 4. 21.ft.

Shipping authorities have calculated that the average weight of merchant ships registered with the U.S. Maritime Commission in 1946 was 5,705 tons. What do you chink:

a. is the weight of the heaviest ship registered with the commission...

1. 10,500 tons 3. 23,000 tons

2. 62,000 tons

4. 7.500 tons

is the weight of the lightest ship registered with the commission ...

1. 3,900 tons 2. 1,100 tons 3. 2.700 tons

Weather officials report that during this century Washington, D.C. has received an average rainfall of 41.1 inches annually. What do you think:

a. is the largest amount of rain that Washington has received in a single year during this century ...

1. 82.4 inches

3. 63.7 inches

2. 45.8 inches

4. 51.2 inches

b. is the smallest amount of rain that Washington has received in a single year during this century ...

1. 20.2 inches

3. 9.9 inches

2. 36.3 inches

4. 29.7 inches

An average of 58 ships entered or left New York harbor daily during the period from 1950 through 1955. What do you think:

a. was the largest number of ships to enter or leave New York in a single day during this period ...

3. 76 ships

1. 69 ships 2. 153 ships

4. 102 ships

b. was the smallest number of ships to enter or leave New York in a single day during this period ...

1. 34 ships

3. 16 ships

2. 3 ships

4. 43 ships

| For the | past tw | enty years, Ala | ska's populati | lon h | s increased an av | crape 3,210 |
|------------|----------|--------------------------------|----------------|---|----------------------|-----------------------|
| | | | | * e n | pulation in a sin | ele vest during |
| | these | tventy years | LOSE IN NAME | - 5 p. | ,hararron *** @ 2*** | KIC JOSE COLLUR |
| | | 1 6 300 | • | 3.90 | ١ | |
| . ` | 4 - 1 | 1. 6,300 2. 21,500 | 4 | 4.84 | | |
| b . | | | | | pulation in a sin | ele vear during |
| | | twenty years | | | hotarion in a sim | Pie jeur during |
| | | 1. 470 | • | 920 | | |
| | | 2. 1.960 | | 2.5 | > 0 | |
| Posting | PENDETTS | .estimate that | | | of all sailing cra | fr in America is |
| | | s. That do you | | | N WYT DATTTIE CIN | It III ADDITED IS |
| | is the | eneed of the | nerger nailing | . hasi | in America | |
| . • | | 1. 8.2 knots | 3. | 5 0 | inota | |
| | | 2. 30.7 knots | | . 71 | knote | |
| ъ. | . is the | speed of the s | lower sailing | hoal | in learing | |
| • | | 1. 3.3 knors | 1 | 77 | knore | |
| | | 1. 3.3 knots 2. 0.6 knots | | 1.7 | knots | |
| Book re | view edi | tors guess that | arnind 300 ne | w Am | rican novels have | acheared |
| annual | v since | Vorld War II. | that do you th | dak t | | appasso |
| n | is the | largest nucher | of rosels to | he n | blished in Americ | a in a simple year |
| | | this period | | | | |
| | | 1 350 200014 | | 270 | novels | |
| | | 1. 380 novels 2. 485 novels | | | novels | |
| · b. | . is the | smallest number | r of novele re | he . | published in Ameri | ra in a single |
| | vear d | uring this peri | od | | JODANSHICK TH MACEN | cu en a sempec |
| | , | 1. 145 novels | 7 | en . | omole. | |
| | | 1. 145 novels 2. 205 novels | | 260 | novele | |
| Ectyper | 1900 55 | d 1940 there wa | an aversee c | .F. 4R | lynchings per yea | r in the United |
| | | o you think: | | | Afticulation per jum | |
| 3. | was th | e largest numbe | r of lynchings | 10 | my one year durin | e this period in |
| • | the Un | ited States | a de aynement. | · • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | , / | , Liizo person sii |
| | | 1. 79 | . 1 | 53 | | |
| | | 2. 63 | 7. | 135 | | |
| Ъ. | | | | | any one year duris | ng this period in the |
| | United | States | , | | | |
| • | | 1. 1 | 3. | 33 | | |
| | | 2. 11 | 4. | 19 | | |
| It has | been cal | | | | all trains in 195 | 3 from New York |
| City to | Washing | ton. P.C. was 2 | 25 rigutes (4 | hour | and 45 minutes). | Phat do you think: |
| a | was th | e tire of the s | lowest train | fron | er York City to W | ashington in |
| | 1953 | | | | | |
| | | 1. 337 min. | 3. | 396 | nin. | |
| | | 2. 304 rin. | | 483 | | • |
| ъ. | . vas th | | | | Rew York City to W | anhington in |
| _ | 1953 | | | | | |
| | | 1. 236 min. | | 268 | | |
| | | 2. 202 min. | | | rdn. | |
| The ave | race nun | ber of births i | n the world re | er da | during 1955 has | been corputed to |
| | | t do you think: | | | | |
| a | vas th | e largest nuche | r of births in | a the | world in any one | day during 1955 |
| 7 | | 1. 36,501 | 3. | 49, | 276 | |
| | , | 2. 27,207 | 4. | 30,0 | 023 | |
| ъ. | , vas th | e snallest numb | er of births | in the | vorld in any one | day during 1955 |
| | | 1. 26,340 | | 14. | | 10.00 |
| | | 2. 24,725 | | 19 | | |
| | | | | | j. | |
| | | | | | | |

then all of the world's written languages are considered, linguists tell us that the average number of verbs per language must be somewhere around 15,000. What do you think: a. is the largest number of verbs in any single language... 1. 21,000 3. 50.000 4. 20.000 2. 17,000 b. is the smallest number of verbs in any single language... 1. 1,000 2. 13,000 3. 3,000 4. 10,000 The average ruzzle to tail length of a sample of 1,000 German Shepherd dogs is 40.3 inches. What do you think: a. is the langth of the longest Shepherd dog in the sample... 1. 60.4 inches 2. 47.8 inches 3. 44.1 inches 4. 54.2 inches b. is the length of the shortest Shepherd dog in the sarple... 3. 19.7 inches 4. 36.9 inches 1. 34.5 inches 2. 25.4 inches The average population of South American countries is approximately 8.6 million people each. What do you think: a. is the population of the most populated country in South America... 1. 11.2 million 3. 23.6 rellion 4. 129.1 million 2. 54.7 rillion b. is the population of the least populated country in South America... 1. 7.000 2. 6.2 million 3. 2.4 million 4. 29;000 A Stanford University hore economist has estimated that the average American spends around 55 rinutes of his day eating. That do you think: a. is the longest eating time of any single Arerican... 1. 105 minutes 3. 245 minutes 4. 90 minutes 2. 125 rinutes. b. is the shortest cating time of any single American ... 1. 16 minutes 3. 38 minutes 2. 4 minutes 4. 27 minutes In 1946 the average number of births per state was 68,000. What do you think: a. was the hirhest number of births in a single state... 3. 71,000 4. 254,000 1. 87,000 2. 122,000 b. was the lewest number of births in a single state... 3. 14.000 4. 900 1. 29,000 2. 57,000 Irrediately after World War II the average number of submarines owned by the largest seven navies in the world was 58. What do you think: a. was the largest number of submarines owned by one of these navies... 1. 159 2. 91 3. 118 4. 69 b. was the scallest number of subcarines owned by one of these navies... 3. 36 4. 47 1. 22 The average number of churches per religious denomination in the United States is estimated to be 511. That do you think: n. is the largest number of churches of a single religious denomination in the U. 3. 1,219 4. 39,801 1. 4,833 2. 757

b. is the smallest number of churches of a single religious denomination

in the U.S.A.... 1. 313 2. 146 In the years 1916 through 1946, according to the U.S. Veather Eureau there was an average of 140 tornadoes a year in the United States. What do you think:

a. was the largest number of tornadoes in a single year in the United States during this period...

1. 154

2. 243

4. 197

b. was the smallest number of tornadoes in a single year in the United States during this period...

1. 103

3. 61

2. 122

4. 28

DATING BEHAVIOR

The following scale is designed to evaluate your personal preferences/ selectivity in choosing a dating partner. You are asked to indicate the relative desirability (relative value) of each of the several traits which are listed below. Use the scale of one to six to indicate how desirable each trait is when considering the type of person you would date. Use the ONE to indicate a trait which is strongly DESIRABLE, the SIX to indicate a strongly UNDESTRABLE trait, and the numbers in between to show various degrees of desirability. Consider each trait carefully, but do not take too much time on any one item.

Use the scale as follows: 1

- STRONGLY DESIRABLE MODERATELY DESIRABLE
- SOMEWHAT DESTRABLE SOMEWHAT UNDESTRABLE
- HODERATELY UNDESTRABLE
- STRONGLY UNDESTRABLE

| LOYAL | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | . 5 | 6 |
|----------------|-----|-----------|---|---|-----|---|
| POSSESSIVE | , 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| WITTY | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| SHREWD | . 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| IRRATIONAL | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| FASHIONABLE | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| EDUCATED | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| SPENDTHRIFT | . 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| AMIABLE | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| SENTIMENTAL | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| UNTRUTHFUL | 1 | ,2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | ٤ |
| DEPENDENT | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| HOSTILE | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| SELF-RIGHTEOUS | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| THOUGHTFUL | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| SUSPICIOUS | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| GENEROUS | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | . 5 | 6 |
| LOUDHOUTHED | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| | | | | | | |

HANAGEMENT STYLE

Most people have had jobs (summer, part time, etc.) and have had to deal with a supervisor or boss. In the future we will again have to deal with a boss, or may ourselves be a boss or supervisor.

The following scale is designed to evaluate your personal preferences for management style. You are asked to indicate the relative desirability (relative value) of each of the several traits which are listed below. Use the scale of one to six to indicate how desirable each trait is in an effective, efficient supervisor or boss. Use a ONE to indicate a trait which is strongly DESIRABLE, the SIX to indicate a strongly UNDESIRABLE trait, and the numbers in between to show various degrees of desirability. Consider each trait carefully, but do not take too much time on any one Item.

Use the scale as follows: 1 STRONGLY DESIRABLE

- 2 HODERATELY DESIRABLE
- SOHEWHAT DESTRABLE
- SOMEWHAT UNDES I RABLE
- MODERATELY UNDESTRABLE 6 STRONGLY UNDESTRABLE

| CONSIDERATE | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | . 6 |
|---------------|-----|---|-----|----|-----|-----|
| TEMPERAMENTAL | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| STERN | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| METHODICAL | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| UNFRIENDLY | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| TOUCHY | | 2 | . 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| ACCURATE | . 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | . 6 |
| SELF-CRITICAL | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| RASH | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| RÉALISTIC | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| HALICIOUS | 1, | 2 | 3 | 14 | 5 | 6 |
| BLUNT | . 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| RESPONSIBLE | | 2 | 3 | 4 | . 5 | 6 |
| GRATEFUL | • 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| OVERCONFIDENT | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| TRUTHFUL | . 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| NARROW-MINDED | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| SYSTEMATIC | , 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |

READ CAREFULLY

This completes this portion of the experiment. The next part of the experiment takes place in another room. Before you can move on to this next part of the research project, the experimenter will have to score your management style and dating preference questionnaires. These will be used for selecting potential members for discussion groups. It will take just a moment to score these items, and the experimenter will do this as scon as possible. After scoring these items, they will direct you to another room where you will complete the experiment. Please CLOSE YCUR FILE (This will signal the experimentar that you are finished), and WAIT for the experimenter to give you further directions. THANK YOU.

In the test below, the first word in each line is printed in capital letters. Opposite it are four other words. Draw a line through the one word which means the same thing, or most nearly the same thing, as the first word. A sample has been worked out for you. If you don't know, guess. Be sure to draw a line through the word in each line that means the same thing as the first word.

| LARGE | red | bly | silent | wet |
|------------|-------------|-------------------|-----------------|-------------|
| TALK | draw | eat | speak | sleep |
| PERMIT | 311ow | Sew | cut | drive |
| PARDON | forgive | pound | divide | tell |
| COUCH | pin | eraser | sofa | glass |
| REMEMBER | Swim | recall | number | defy |
| TUFELE | drink | dress | fall | think |
| HIDEOUS | silvery | tilted | young | dreadful |
| CORDIAL | Swift | muddy | leafy | hearty |
| EVIDENT | green | obvicus | skeptical | afraid |
| IMPOSTER | conductor | officer | book | pretender |
| MERIT | deserve | distrust | fight | separate |
| FASCINATE | welcome | fix | stir | enchant |
| INDICATE | defy | excite | Signify | bicker |
| IGNORANT | red | sharpen | uninformed | precise |
| FORTIFY | submarge . | strengthen | vent | deaden |
| REMOKIN | length | head | fame | loyalty |
| NARRATE | yield | buy | associate | tell |
| PASSIVE | bright | large | speedy | .low |
| SMIRCHED | stolen | pointed | remade | soiled |
| HILARITY | laughter | speed | grace | malice |
| SQUANDER | tease | belittle | cut | waste |
| CAPTION | drum | ballast | heading | ape |
| FACILITATE | help | turn | strip | bewilder |
| JOCOSE | humorous | paltry | fervid | plain |
| APPRISE | reduce | strew | inform | delight |
| RUE | est | lament | dominate | cure |
| DENIZEN | senator | inhabitant | fish | atom |
| DIVEST | dispossess | intrude | rally | pleage |
| AMULET | charm | orphan | dingo | pond |
| INEXORABLE | untidy | involatile | rigid | sparse |
| SERRATED | dried | notched | armed | blunt |
| LISSOM | moldy | loose | supple | convex |
| HOLLIFY | mitigate | direct | pertain | abuse |
| PLAGIARIZE | appropriate | intend | revoke | maintain |
| ORIFICE | brush | hole | building | lute |
| CUERULOUS | maniacai | curious | devout | complaining |
| PARIAH | outcast | priest | lentil | locker |
| ABET. | waken | ensue | incite | placate |
| TEHERITY | rashness | ensue timidity | doct to | kindness |
| PRISTINE | vain | sound | desire first | level |
| FRISTINE | AQ III | Sound | TIPSC | IEAEI |
| | | | | |

POST EXPERIMENTAL QUESTIONNAIRE

| lease mark | | | | |
|------------|--|--|--|--|
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |

- 1 = 1 agree very much
 2 = 1 agree on the whole
 3 = 1 agree a little
 5 = 1 disagree on the whole
 6 = 1 disagree very much
-) 1. I gave serious consideration to all questions I answered.
- I gave the answers I thought the experimenter wanted instead of the ones I truly believed.
- () 3. I understood that I may be called later to join a discussion group.
- () 4. In hindsight, I would probably sign up for this experiment again.
- The experimenters could be trusted, and made me comfortable with all parts of the experiment.
- () 6. The instructions were clear and straightforward.
- 7. I would consider joining one of the discussion groups if I received additional experimental credit.
- () 8. If I were to be involved in a discussion group, I would prefer it to be the one I selected.

READ CAREFULLY

Congratulations! and Thank you. You have completed the experiment with this last page. This final section is intended to let you know a little more about the things we asked you to do.

During the experiment you completed several paper and pencil questionnaires. Two questionnaires that we are particularly interested in are the dating and management style questionnaires. These are new surveys that we are using for the first time here at the University of Oklahoma. At this time we do not know what a truely "average" or unusual score will turn out to be. We do know that the scales are non-linear. That means, for example, that you cannot equally compare the difference between scores of 40 and 50, with the difference for scores of 50 and 60. The words selected for this checklist have been tested on more than one thousand subjects at universities across the nation.

Other questionnaires you completed were designed to give us the following information: I your general tendency to either over generalize or under generalize. 2 your preference for situations which are either ambiguous and debatable, or that are clear cut, unambiguous. 3 The last, a "vocabulary" survey will be used to statistically control your scores on the other surveys (a co-variant analysis technique).

The measures mentioned above will be used 1) for evaluating discussion group Preferences, and 2) for assigning students to discussion groups. In the future you MRY be called and asked to volunteer for a discussion group. You are not obligated to comply in any way. As of now, the chance of any one Person being called for a discussion group is rather small. Those who Participate in this experiment later next year are more likely to be asked to join such a group.

Finally, we ask that you BO NOT share the specific details of this experiment with your friends, as we hope to continue our research here for several months to come. We want to thank you for your time and help.

Before leaving the experiment be certain you recieve an experimental credit slip from your experimenter. Thanks again.

APPENDIX B

| PROPOS | | IDNAL SCIENCE FO | DUNDATION | | | |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| FOR CONSIDERATION BY NSF ORGAN Indexes the most specific will know, ie Data support services s group and social resear | ection in | | AL BEING SUBUITTED TO ANOTHER ICY7 Yet No XX : IF YES, LIST | | | |
| PROGRAM ANNOUNCEMENT/SOLICITA | TION NO. | CLOSING DATE UF AN | v. | | | |
| NAME OF SUBMITTING ORGANIZATION University of Oklahoma | TO WHICH AWARD S | | DE BRANCH: CAMPUS/OTHER COMPONENTS: | | | |
| NOTES OF ORGANIZATION INCLUDE NOTES OF PROPOSED PROJECT | E ZIP CODEI | | | | | |
| Similarity and Cognitio | n in Social Co | mparison | | | | |
| PECUESTED AMOUNT | PAGESSED BURATIO | W | DESIRED STARTING DAYE | | | |
| | Nine month | contract | October 1984 | | | |
| PIPO NAME AND SOCIAL SECURITY | MO ISSMI | | PIIPO PHONE NO. | | | |
| Richard Reardon (|) | | 405 325-4511 | | | |
| Psychology | | Univers | itation | | | |
| Wanda E. Ward (|) | ADDITIONAL FIPD | | | | |
| ADDITIONAL PIPO AND SSN* | | ADDITIONAL PIPD | AND SSN* | | | |
| FOR RENEWAL OR CONTINUING AWA | | 121 for definitions). | | | | |
| "Submission of social socurity numbers is a integral part of the NSF information system | eluntery and will not all n and assist in processing | oct the organization's thigh the propessi SSN selected | Hy for an award, Hawardt, they are an Lunder NSF Act of 1950, or amanded. | | | |
| CHECK APPROPRIATE BOXIESI IF | THIS PROPOSAL IN | ICLUDES ANY OF THE | ITEMS LISTED BELOW: | | | |
| ☐ Animal Welfare ☑ H | uman Subjects | □ Nation | Environmental Policy Act | | | |
| ☐ Endangered Species ☐ 4 | larine Mammal Protect | Tion Greatch Involving Recombinant DNA Molecules | | | | |
| ☐ Historical Sites ☐ P | ollution Control | ☐ Proprie | tary and Privileged Information | | | |
| PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR/ PROJECT DIRECTOR | AUTHORIZED DI | RGANIZATIONAL REP. | OTHER ENDORSEMENT | | | |
| NAME Richard Reardon | NAME | | Wanda E. Ward | | | |
| SIGNATURE | SIGNATURE | | SIGNATURE | | | |
| Assistant Professor | YIYLE | | Assistant Professor | | | |
| DATE | DATE | | DATE | | | |

APPENDIX II Project Summary

University of Oklahoma Department of Psychology 455 M. Lindsey, Norman OK.

Principle Investigators Richard Reardon and Wanda E. Ward

Perceived Similarity and the Social comparison Process.

ABSTRACT:

According to social comparison theory, when the motive to self evaluate Predominates, PeoPle actively seek the opportunity to make comparisons of their attitudes and abilities with the most similar other available. Research of individual-to-individual comparison Processes has demonstrated that externally defined dimensions of "similarity" are effective Predictors of one's selection of a comparison reference. This Proposal is designed to extend this basic finding to the individual-to-group comparison Process. Relevant individual difference dimensions will also be employed to examine Possible cognitive style involvements in social comparison Processes.

Ambiguity tolerance (AT) identifies a person's tendency to either seek out or avoid ambiguous situations and Problems. Category width (CN) identifies a Person's tendency to make consistent errors of inclusion or exclusion in the creation of group boundaries. By identifying the structural properties of groups which relate to breadth and homogeneity of membership, we can demonstrate the impact of cognitive styles (CW and AT) in the selection of comparison groups.

In experiment one the subjects will be given information about themselves and others along some attitude dimension. These "others" comprise four groups, each group representing different levels of breadth and homogeneity along the attitude dimension. Given this information, subjects will then be asked to select a group for discussion of the attitude topic. In experiment two the "others" have not been assigned to groups. The subject will be asked to construct the group within which they would prefer to work. It is predicted that subjects will affiliate with groups that are consistent with their cognitive style rather than groups identified as similar by a dimension of mean similarity.

APPENDIX II

NOTICE OF RESEARCH PROJECT

SCIENCE INFORMATION EXCHANGE

NATIONAL SCIENCE FOUNDATION PROJECT SUMMARY

| 4 6 | 015 | CT.N | • | | | | |
|--|-------|-------|---|------|---|---|---|
| | 100 | 100 | | | | | |
| | . • . | | | | | | |
| <u>. </u> | | | | - | | | |
| \$1 | AWA | 10 20 | | | • | • | _ |
| 7 | S. 3 | 3 1 1 | | | | | |

| | | | FOR NSF US | | 5 1 1 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 |
|---------------------|-----|--------------|--------------|-------------|---|
| DIRECTORATE/DIVISIO | PAO | GRAM OR SECT | ION 14 TOTAL | ADPORAL NO. | |

ME OF INSTITUTION SINCLUDE BRANCH/CAMPUS AND SCHOOL OF DIVISION

University of Oklahoma

Norman, OK

ADDRESS (INCLUDE DEPARTMENT)

Richard Reardon, and Wanda E. Ward Department of Psychology University of Oklahoma Norman, OK 73019

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATORIS

Richard Reardon and Wanda E. Ward (Co-P.I.)

Similarity and Cognition in Social Comparison

TECHNICAL ASSTRACT ILIMIT TO 22 PICA OR 18 SLITS TYPEWRITTEN LINES! According to social comparison theory, when the motivation for self evaluation predominates people will frequently compare their attitudes and abilities with the most similar other available. Research of individual-to-individual comparison processes has shown that externally defined dimensions of similarity can be effective predictors for ones' choice of comparison reference. This proposal is intended to extend such findings more completely to individual-to-group comparisons. Individual difference dimensions will be used to examine possible cognitive style involvement in the perception of similarity dimensions.

Ambiguity tolerance (AT) identifies a person's tendency to seek out or avoid ambiguous

situations. Category width (CW) identifies a person's tendency to make errors of inclusion or exclusion. By identifying the structural properties of groups which relate to breadth, and homogeneity of membership, we can demonstrate the utility of CW and AT in the choice of comparison groups. In Experiment 1, subjects will be given information about themselves and others on an attitude dimension. These "others" comprise four groups each representing different levels of breadth and homogeneity. Using this information, S' will be asked to select a group for discussion of the attitude topic. In Experiment 2, the "others" are not assigned to groups, and the Ss are asked to construct the groups. It is predicted that Ss will affiliate with groups which have membership characteristics consistent to Ss' cognitive style, even at the expense of the objective dimensions for mean similarity.

18 Elite.

- 1. Proposal Folder
- 3. Division of Grants & Contracts 5. Principal Investigator
- 2. Program Suspense 4. Science Information Exchange 6. Off. of Govt. & Pub. Progs.

Budget draft and budget narrative.

Wanda E. Ward

| ORGANIZATION: University of Oklah | oma |
|--|--------------------------|
| CO-PRINCIPLE INVESTIGATORS: Richa and Wanda E. Ward. | rd Rear |
| A Senior Personel: | |
| 1. Richard Reardon 9/12 .80 2. Wanda E. Ward 9/12 .80 | 4200 4200 |
| B Other Personel: | |
| 3. (1.5) Graduate Students .75 FT 5. (1)Secretarial-Clerical .25 FT | E 9750 E 3500 |
| Total Salaries and Wages (A+B) | 21650 |
| C Fringe Benefits (direct cost) D Permanent Equipment E Travel F Participant Support Cost | 2387 0 2000 0 |
| G Other Direct Costs: 1. Materials and Supplies 2. Publication Costs/Page charges 4. Computer (ADPE) Services Total Other Direct Costs | 700 120 500 820 |
| H Total Direct Costs: | 26857 |
| I Indirect Costs (Overhead) | 18480 |
| J Total Direct and Indirect Costs K Residual Funds L Amount of This Request | 45337 Ø 45337 |
| Signatures and TyPed: PI1 Richard Re | ardon |

PI2

Inst.ReP.

| | PROPOSAL BUDGET | | | FOR HSF USE ONLY | | | | | |
|--|--|---------------------------------------|---------------|------------------|--|------------------|--|--------------------|--|
| ORGANIZATION | | | PROPE | SAL | NO. | DUR | DURATION (VONTHS) | | |
| University of Oklahoma | | | -1-7- | | | Prese | | Cranted . | |
| AINCHAL INVESTIGATORIPADIECT DIRECTOR | | - 17 X | AWAR | > ∾ 0. | | 3 | ; | | |
| Richard Reardon, Wanda E. Ward (| | 1 | | 1.5 | | 2000 | | | |
| SENIOR PERSONNEL: PIPD, Co-PI's, Folully and Other | M Sahier Asseriance | | 1494 | | REQUEST | ED ET. | GRAN | LED BY VE | |
| (Lat each tenerality with title, A.S. shop number in the | | CAI | | - | PROPO | SEN W. | | PFEREN | |
| Richard Keardon Co-1.1. | | 9/1 | 2.20 | 25.5 | 3 4200 · | 1.6.00 | 8 | r 120 115 | |
| wanda E. Ward Co-P. I. | Symptotic transfer of the second | 9/1 | 2.20 | 7.792 | 4200 | الإنجابي | 500 | | |
| (1945) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) (1955) | segaringen bevocht est voll i volks | 27 July 38 | 7 4.9 | 33. | SE 2500 | \$ 1.54 L | 13.15 | gray gran | |
| 医内侧角性 "我们一身有一张"的第四大副士和"朱利克"的"大大"的"大大"的" | araik - Nazra eta 🗀 💢 | 100 A | | ÷ | J 745 | 157 C | · ~. | 3.0 | |
| . 1 🕟 I OTHERS (LIST INDIVIDUALLY ON BUDGET É | APLANATION PAGES | | 1 1 | • : • : | M 47 E | 1.16.4.2 | | 1 / 1 | |
| TOTAL SCHIOR PERSONNEL (1-5) | | -88 W | | \$1.00 | S | 111551 | | | |
| OTHER PERSONNEL ISHOW NUMBERS IN BRACKET | (\$1-@0_00) | 9/1 | 2.40 | 7.20 | 8400 | | 7355 | | |
| I POST DOCTORAL ASSOCIATES | SENSE OF TOP TOP TO A SENSE OF THE SENSE | 1,71,52 | 12.4 | 2 46 2 | 32.46 | e, seta i | S. S. S. | | |
| 1 TECHNICIAN, PROFESSIONALS (TECHNICIAN, PRO | GRAMMER, ETC.) | - | | 500 | H-62.58 12 | | 15:50 | tour St | |
| (2) GRADUATE STUDENTS .75FTE total | elitario di Podini di Colo | √3à?, | - Y | ्द्राच्य | 9750 | 11.0 | 100 | 11.00° ±. | |
| TO THE UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS A SUSCESSION | and the second of the second of | | | ₹* ÷ ; | Section . | - 19 42 % | 198.15 | 112.25 | |
| 1 1 SECRETARIAL CLERICAL . 25FTE total | | a in Arrah | 1901 . | | 3500 | | | . 1974/97 . | |
| ুৰ লোক Others লোকত মহান্তৰ ক্ষেত্ৰত কৰা নিজ্ঞান | | 1.9.5 | | | 4. 78.98 | 1.00 | | | |
| TOTAL SALARIES AND WAGES (A-B) | NOT WAS LAND OF S | Þ | | 1.11 | 21650 | 3.44 37 | | | |
| FRINGE BENEFITS HE CHARGED AS DIRECT COST | | | | · . | 2387 | | | | |
| TOTAL SALARIES, WAGES AND FRINGE BENEFIT | | | | | 24037 | | 1 | - 2 p 12 | |
| PERMANENT EQUIPMENT (LIST ITEM AND DOLLA | | ACEEDING | | 2 4 1 4 | 1 | | 1 | - 1. Talah | |
| ITEMS OVER SID DOOREQUIRE CERTIFICATION | | | . 1 | | 1:: :: | ×. |] | | |
| | | | | 14 | | W | 1 | • | |
| | | | | | | | 1 | | |
| | | | | | | | I | | |
| | | | | | | | 1 | • | |
| | | | | | h | ٠.,. | 1 | | |
| TOTAL PERMANENT EQUIPMENT | | | | | === | | 1- | | |
| THAVEL 1. DOMESTIC LINCL CANADA AND U.S. | POSSESSIONS | | | | -0- | | | | |
| 2 SOREIGN | 7023(13)(0,13) | | | | -0- | | | | |
| | | | - | | | 7.77 | i | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | · · · . | | | ••• | ' | | |
| PARTICIPANT SUPPORT COSTS | | | | | 1 | • | l | | |
| 1. STIPENOS \$ | | | | | † | ~ | į. | • | |
| 2. TPAVEL 2000 | | | | | | | I | | |
| 3 SUBSISTENCE | | | | | | | | | |
| 4 OTHER | | | | | | ~ . | | | |
| | | | | <u> </u> | | | | | |
| TOTAL PARTICIPANT COSTS | , | | | | 2000 | | | | |
| OTHER DIRECT COSTS | | | | | 1 | | - | | |
| 1 I, MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES | | | | | + | | ! | | |
| 7. PUBLICATION COSTS/PAGE CHARGES | | | | | 120 | | | | |
| - 3 CONSULTANT SERVICES AND THE CONTRACT | . Programme and the second | | | | -0- | 1, 1111 | | | |
| 4 CUMPUTER (ADPENSERVICES | A CONTRACTOR OF THE STATE OF TH | * | <u> </u> | 4/4/ | 500 | | | 3.5 | |
| - S. SUBCONTRACTS of A Miles Selected | the discount of the course | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | 4.35 | 1 -0- | (1. m) 1. m) | | | |
| m bistrer (1) in the case of the line | <u> 1800 - Die Grand Grand Webb</u> | Marian 1 | | . 05. | 7820 | 25.5 | 1 | | |
| TOTAL OTHER DIRECT COSTS | | | | 200 | 126857 | 112 117 | | 11.00 | |
| TOTAL DIRECT COSTS IA THROUGH G) | | | | | 18480 | , mi | | entra e | |
| | the transplant of the second | | | | 1 | * 1 | 7 1 | | |
| DINDIRECT COSTS ISPECIPY)の制造性の「BACLETE TORKS (District 別が代記している)(A. Tickete | | | 1. | | | | | | |
| and the contract of the contra | | | * 1. | | 45337 | | - | | |
| TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS | | | | | 45337 | | | | |
| TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT COSTS (H + 1) | CURANT SOLUTION | AMP 343 | | | | | | | |
| TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT COSTS [M + 1] RESIDUAL FUNOS (IF FOR FURTHER SUPPORT OF | | | | | -0- | | | | |
| TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT COSTS [M + 1] ACSIDUAL FUNDS (IF FOR FURTHER SUPPORT OF AMOUNT OF THIS REQUEST (J) ON (J) MINUS () | Taking a line of the way of the a | 7.17 | | | -0- e45337 | | 3 | | |
| TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT COSTS [H +]] RESIDUAL FUNDS (IF FOR FURTINER SUPPORT OF L AMOUNT OF THIS REQUEST IS OR LI MINUS K) VPD TYPED NAME & SIGNATURE* | | | | FOR | -0- #45337 NSF USE C | MLY | | | |
| TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT COSTS (H + 1) RESIDUAL FUNDS (IF FOR FURTINER SUPPORT OF AMOUNT OF THIS REQUEST (J) OF U MINUS () UPD TYPED NAME & SIGNATURE* | PATE | | MOIRE | FOR | -0- 845337 HSF USE C | MLY | | | |
| TOTAL INDIRECT COSTS TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT COSTS [H +]] RESIDUAL FUNDS (IF FOR FURTINER SUPPORT OF AMOUNT OF THIS REQUEST (J) OR [J MINUS K) UPD TYPED NAME & SIGNATURE* | Taking a line of the way of the a | | MOIRE | FOR CT CO | -0- #45337 NSF USE C | MLY | | | |

Bud9et expansion sheet

A Senior Personnel: Vita appended.

B Other Personnel:

3. Graduate Students

The University of Oklahoma Department of Psychology recruits graduate students for Ph.D. training in experimental psychology. The remuneration rate (\$6500 10/12.5 FTE) is within departmental standards.

5. Secretarial-Clerical

This Position is .25 FTE 12/12. This is a release time Position for existing clerical staff; funding cycle and benefits have been established by the University of Oklahoma.

C Fringe Benefits:

Fringe benefits were determined by existing contracts and norms. The University of Oklahoma offers Fringe benefits at a rate of 22% for Faculty, 14% for Classified - secretarial Positions, and 0.5% for student Positions.

D Permanent Equipment:

It is the Policy of the University of Oklahoma to Provide incomin9 research faculty with their/basic equipment needs. Such a Policy allows us to Present this fundin9 request to the NSF without burden of basic equipment cost.

G Other Direct Costs:

1. Materials and Supplies

This item includes the cost of computer discs, disc storage devices, disc maintenance devices, Printer supplies, and other computer needs. Estimates of fair market charges are from the most recent INMAC "Personal Computer Support Catalog". INMAC is an authorized supplier to the University of Oklahoma. Other basic clerical and office supplies are available at special rates through the University Purchasing Services.

2. Rate reflects average Page charges for a 20 Page Published report. These charges may not be necessary for some Publications, and will be returned as residual should this be Possible.

4. This is a standard estimate for ADPE services from the University of Oklahoma.

I Indirect Costs:

The University of Oklahoma requires a 42% overhead charge for administration of grants and contracts. This fee Provides grantees with a wide variety of services including; Research space, accounting administration, access to all university facilities and necessary equipment, and access to university retained consultants in statistics and ADPE.

Addendum; Equipment use report

Materials and supplies are requested in section G-1; budget expansion sheet NSF appendix III.

The experimental Procedure detailed in the 9rant narrative is designed to incorporate computer generated stimulus materials. In this Procedure, subjects will be asked to select a reference group based on information detailing attitude relations among the members of several groups. The micro-computer system will manage: (1) The calculation of group membership dimensions (2) The counter-balancing of the formats of group Presentation (3) The display of these Potential membership groups.

In addition to the efficient management of basic experimental Procedures, the micro-computer systems will enhance the efficacy of our cover story relating to group construction.

APPENDIX IV

Current and Pending Support

The following information should be provided for each investigator and other senior personnel (see p.6). Failure to provide this information may delay consideration of the proposal.

| ्र | | - A - 3 | ~ B | - C | · · · D | . | 1 |
|------|--|-------------------|------------------|---|-------------------------------|--|--|
| | | Supporting Agency | Project Title | Award Amount (or Annual (Rate) | Period Covered By Award | Man-Months Or % of Effort Committed To The Project | Location Where Research Is/Will Be Performed |
| | | | | 83300 | | ACAD SUMM. | |
| ī | (Name of Principal Investigator) A. Current Support List-If none, Report none | Richard | Reat | lon — | | | |
| | B. Proposals Pending 1. List this proposal 2. Other pending proposals, including renewal applications 3. Proposals planned to be submitted in near future. | Research | | ents for | Scient | ific and Engi | neering |
| 11 | tName of co-principal investigator and/or faculty associate) A. B. | Wanda | EWar | d | | - | ÷ |
| 111. | Transfer of Support If this project has previously been funded by another agency, please list and furnish information for immediately preceding funding period. | NA. | | | | | |
| ïV | (Other agencies to which this proposal has been/will be submitted) | NA. | | | | | |

[&]quot;Non-scademic researchers may report percentage of effort using the first column galv.

Research Locale Report

1.

The University of Oklahoma has Provided the National Science Foundation with all current required reports detailing available equipment and services. Also on file with the National Science Foundation are EEO/AA and faculty Profile worksheets. Additional copies of these reports will be made available upon request.

2.

The Principal investigators' research laboratory facilities include the following equipment necessary for maintenance of the grant contract: (A) Three room, interconnecting laboroatory space, (B) ALTOS system computer and terminals (3), (C) APPLE II computer system, (D) APPLE Macintosh computer system, and (E) Appropriate materials and assessment instruments.

The Department of Psychology Provides the following support services to Granted faculty: (A) Computer technician services for computer Programming, maintenance and repair, (B) Additional computer equipment access, including OSBORNE and APPLE II systems (4), (C) Materials storage and supply, (D) Statistical and methodological consulting Programs, (E) Subject Pool access and administration, and (F) Graduate student recruitment for funded Positions.

APPENDIX V

CHECKLIST FOR PROPOSAL SUBMISSION

Complete proposals help to expedite review and assist the applicant to meet a planned program. To assure that research proposals submitted to the Foundation are complete, an administrative check should be made before mailing.

- Cover page (use requested format)
- Appropriate boxes under REMARKS on cover page checked
- 2 Human Subjects Certification, if required
- D Recombinant DNA Certification, if required
- All required signatures (principal investigator, coprincipal investigators, and organizational)
- Table of contents
- Project summary (less than 200 words)
- NAC Summary of progress to date and its relation to proposed work (renewals only)

- D Detailed description of proposed research
- D Bibliography of pertinent literature
- Vitae of all senior personnel
- D Current list of main publications of senior personnel (major publications currently in press may be listed)
- D Budget in requested format
- NAU Equipment Certification, if required
- NAD Brief description and justification of major items of
- NA Brief description of type and extent of travel and its
- relationship to the research

 NAD Current and pending support (see Appendix IV)
- D List or description of available facilities and major items of equipment to be used in the proposed research
- Q Required number of copies of the proposal, including the original signed copy (see Appendix VII)
- NAD Residual Funds Statement, if required.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Arrowood, A.J., & Friend, R. Other factors determining the choice of a comparison other. <u>Journal of Experimental</u> Psychology, 1969, 5, 233-239.
- Berscheid, E.& Walster, E. <u>Interpersonal attraction</u>. Addison Wesley Co., 1960.
- Deiner, E. Lusk, R. DeFour, D. & Flax, R. Deindividuation: Effects of 9roup size, density, number of observers, and 9roup member similarity on self consciousness and disinhibited behavior. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1980, 3, 449-459.
- Durso, F., Reardon, R., & Jolly, E. Self-nonself segregation and reality monitoring. Forthcoming, <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 1984.
- English, H. & English, A. A comprehensive dictionary of Psychological and Psychoanalytic terms. New York: McKay 1958.
- Festinger, L. Informal social communication. <u>Psychological</u> <u>Review</u>, 1950, 57, 271-282.
- Festinger, L. A theory of social comparison Processes, Human Relations, 1954, 7, 117-140.
- Frenkel-Brunswik, E. Intolerance of ambiguity as an emotional and Percaptual Personality variable.

 <u>Journal of Personality</u>, 1949, 18, 108-143.
- Goldstein, J. & Rosenfeld, H. Insecurity and Preference for Persons Similar to oneself. <u>Journal of Personality</u>, 1968, 37, 253-268.
- Granbers, D. Jefferson, N. Brent, E. S. King, M. Membership group, reference group, and the attribution of attitudes. to groups. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1981, 40, 5, 833-842.
- Gruder, C.L. Determinants of social comparison choices.

 Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 1971,7, 473-489.
- Latang', B. Studies in social comparison- Introduction and overview. <u>Journal of Experimental Social Psychology</u>, 1966 Suppliment 1, 1-5.
- MacDonald, A. Revised scale for ambiguity tolerance: reliability and validity, <u>Psychological Reports</u>, 1970, 26, 791-798.

- Pettigrew, T.; In Theories of Social Psychology, 2nd Ed. Shaw, M. E., & Costano, P. R. Eds.; McGraw Hill Co., 1982.
- Petti9rew, T. The measurement and correlates of category width as a cognitive variable. Journal of Personality, 1958, 26,532-544.
- Scott, W. & Scott, R.. Intercorrelations amon9 structural Properties of Primary 9roups. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1981, 41, 2, 279-292.
- Shaw, M. Group Dynamics. Second Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1975.
- Shaffer, D. & Hendrick, C. Bo9matism and tolerance for ambiguity as determinants of differential reactions to cognitive inconsistency. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1974, 29, 601-608.
- Sines.L. K., Intelligence test correlates of ShiPles-Hartford Performance. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 1958, 14, 399-404.
- Stainer, I.D. Reactions to adverse and favorable evaluations of one's self. <u>Journal of Fersonality</u>, 1968, 36, 553-363
- Steiner, I.D. & Rogers, E.D. Alternative responses to dissonance. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology 1963,66,128-141.
- Suls, J. & Miller, R. Social comparison Processes. New York: Wiles and Sons, 1977.
- Van Knippenberg, A. Wilke, H. & Devries, N. Social comparison on two dimensions. <u>European Journal of Psychology</u>, 1981, 11, 267-283.
- Wheeler, L. Motivation as a determinant of upward comparison.

 Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 1956,

 Suppliment 1, 27-51.
- Wheeler, L. Shaver, K.G., Jones, R.A.& Butzine, K.W. Factors determining the choice of comparison other. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 1969,5, 219-232.
- Willerman, B. Lewit, D., & Tellegen, A. Seeking and avoiding self evaluations by working individually or in groups, In Willner, D. (Ed.), Decisions, values and groups (Yol.1) Permagon Press, 1960.

APPENDIX IX

Clip One Copy Only to the Face Page of the Signature Copy of the Application:

Supplementary Information

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR(S)/PROJECT DIRECTOR(S)

The National Science Foundation has an obligation to monitor the operation of its award process to assess patterns of sex, race, or ethnicity among proposed Principal Investigators/Project Directors.

To provide the NSF with the information it needs for this important task, the Principal Investigator(s)/
Project Director(s) is (are) requested to complete this form and attach a single copy to the face page
of the signature copy of the application. Submission of this information is optional (but is strungly
encouraged).

Upon receipt and assignment of the application by the NSF, this form will be detached from the application. It will NOT be duplicated, will NOT be made available to the NSF Program Officer, and will NOT be a part of the review process. Data will be confidential, and will be maintained in secure data files in accordance with the Privacy Act of 1974. All analyses conducted on the data will report aggregate statistical findings only and will not identify individuals.

Whether you do or do not provide this information will in no way affect consideration of an application.

| | | cipal Investigator/Project Director is involved, simply check the coor more, enter the appropriate numbers in the boxes. | appropriate |
|-------------------|---|---|----------------|
| Sex: | Female | 1 Mulc | |
| Race | ınd/er Ethnic C | Origin: | |
| | | American Indian or Alaskan Native Assan or Pacific Islander | |
| | | Black, not of Hispanic origin Hispanic | |
| | | White, not of Hispanic origin | • |
| NOTE: | | t most clusely reflects the individual's recognition in the community should be used fo ed racial and/or ethnic origins. Definitions follow. | n the burbos |
| A persu | an Indian or Aluski in having origins in Miluium or commu | any of the original peoples of Fronth America, and who maintains cultural identific | ation through |
| A persu | | any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian subcontinent, for example, China, India, Japan. Korea, the Philippine Islands and Samisa. | or the Pacific |
| | not of Hispanic original in a | gm iny of the black racial groups of Africa. | |
| Hispan A perso | | io Rican, Cuban, Central or South American or other Spanish culture or origin, regard | iless of tace. |
| | not of Hispanic orig n having origins in a | gin iny of the original peoples of Europe, North Africa, or the Middle East. | • |
| if Form T | 153(8-41) | 29 | |